

WCPFC10

Tenth Regular Session 2th December – 6th December 2013 Cairns, AUSTRALIA

TCC9 SUMMARY REPORT

WCPFC10-2013-19 13 November 2013



Commission for the Conservation and Management of Highly Migratory Fish Stocks in the Western and Central Pacific Ocean

Technical and Compliance Committee Ninth Regular Session

Pohnpei, Federated States of Micronesia 26 September-1 October 2013

Table of Contents

AGENDA ITEM 1 — OPENING OF MEETING	2
AGENDA ITEM 2 —WCPFC IUU VESSEL LIST	3
AGENDA ITEM 3—COOPERATING NON-MEMBER APPLICATIONS	
AGENDA ITEM 4 —STATUS OF FISHERIES	
AGENDA ITEM 5 —SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS OF DEVELOPING STATES	
AGENDA ITEM 6 —DRAFT MULTI-YEAR MANAGEMENT PROGRAMME	0
FOR TROPICAL TUNAS AND COMPLIANCE ISSUES (CMM 2012-01)	17
AGENDA ITEM 7 —COMPLIANCE MONITORING SCHEME (CMS)	
AGENDA ITEM 8 —HIGHLIGHTS OF WCPFC SECRETARIAT-	
ADMINISTERED MCS AND COMPLIANCE PROGRAMMES	
AGENDA ITEM 9 —DATA PROVISION AND DATA GAPS	
AGENDA ITEM 10 — INTERSESSIONAL ACTIVITIES AND TASKS FROM	
TCC8 AND WCPFC9	51
AGENDA ITEM 11 — REVIEW OF EXISTING CMMs AND RESOLUTIONS	
AGENDA ITEM 12 — PROPOSALS FOR NEW CMMs	
AGENDA ITEM 13 — OTHER MATTERS REQUIRING TCC ADVICE	
AGENDA ITEM 14 — REVIEW TCC-RELATED RECOMMENDATIONS ON	
PERFORMANCE REVIEW OF WCPFC	61
AGENDA ITEM 15 — TCC BUDGET AND WORKPLAN	61
AGENDA ITEM 16 — OTHER MATTERS	
AGENDA ITEM 17 — ELECTION OF OFFICERS	
AGENDA ITEM 18 — NEXT MEETING	
AGENDA ITEM 19 — ADOPTION OF REPORT OF TCC9	
AGENDA ITEM 20 — CLOSE OF MEETING	
ATTACHMENT A – LIST OF PARTICIPANTS	
ATTACHMENT B: PROVISIONAL AGENDA WITH SCHEDULE	
ATTACHMENT C - WCPFC IUU VESSEL LIST FOR 2013	
ATTACHMENT D – E-MONITORING AND E-REPORTING TRAFFIC LIGHT	
	85

Commission for the Conservation and Management of Highly Migratory Fish Stocks in the Western and Central Pacific Ocean

Technical and Compliance Committee Ninth Regular Session

26 September-1 October 2013 Pohnpei, Federated States of Micronesia

SUMMARY REPORT

AGENDA ITEM 1 — OPENING OF MEETING

1.1 Welcome

- 1. The TCC Chair, Ms Rhea Moss-Christian of the Federated States of Micronesia (FSM) opened the meeting with a prayer led by a representative of FSM. The TCC Chair then reminded TCC9 of the functions of TCC according to Article 14 of the WCPF Convention which include i) providing the Commission with information, technical advice and recommendations relating to the implementation of, and compliance with, conservation and management measures (CMMs); ii) monitoring and reviewing compliance with conservation and management measures adopted by the Commission; and iii) reviewing the implementation of cooperative measures for monitoring, control, surveillance and enforcement adopted by the Commission.
- 2. TCC9 paused for a moment of silence to remember Mr Colin Brown of the Cook Islands, a longstanding participant in TCC meetings and a valued contributor to the work of the Commission, who passed away earlier this year.
- 3. The following CCMs attended TCC9: Australia, China, Cook Islands, Ecuador, El Salvador, European Union, Federated States of Micronesia, Fiji, French Polynesia, Japan, Kiribati, Republic of Korea, Republic of the Marshall Islands, Nauru, New Caledonia, New Zealand, Niue, Panama, Papua New Guinea, Philippines, Samoa, Solomon Islands, Chinese Taipei, Thailand, Tokelau, Tonga, Tuvalu, United States, Vanuatu and Vietnam.
- 4. Observers representing the Parties to the Agreement on the Conservation of Albatrosses and Petrels (ACAP), the Pacific Islands Forum Fisheries Agency (FFA), the Gordon and Betty Moore Foundation, Greenpeace, the International Seafood Sustainability Foundation (ISSF), the Pacific Islands Tuna Industry Association (PITIA), the Pew Charitable Trusts, the Parties to the Nauru Agreement (PNA), the Secretariat of the Pacific Community (SPC) and the Worldwide Fund for Nature (WWF) attended TCC9. A list of participants is provided as Attachment A.

1.2 Adoption of Agenda

5. Based on comments received on previously circulated versions, an agenda for TCC9 as presented in WCPFC-TCC9-2013/02 (rev 6) was adopted (Attachment B). A list of meeting documents was provided in WCPFC-TCC9-2013/05 (rev 5).

1.3 Meeting Arrangements

6. The TCC Chair explained that according to procedures agreed in CMM 2012-02 for the Compliance Monitoring Scheme (CMS), discussions related to the development of the draft Compliance Monitoring Report (CMR) would be conducted in sessions limited to CCMs and inter-governmental sub-regional agencies which provide advice to these CCMs.

AGENDA ITEM 2 —WCPFC IUU VESSEL LIST

- 7. Information on the draft IUU Vessel List for 2013 and the current WCPFC IUU Vessel List were presented by the WCPFC Compliance Manager, Dr Lara Manarangi-Trott (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/10). There are no nominations to the list for 2013.
- 8. TCC9 was asked to consider whether it wished to recommend to the Commission that the three vessels currently on the WCPFC IUU Vessel List (Neptune (flagged to Georgia), Fu Lien No. 1 (flagged to Georgia), and Yu Rong 168 (flagged to Chinese Taipei)) should remain on the list for another year.
- 9. FFA members considered that as no further information concerning these vessels has been received, the issues relating to the listing of these vessels have not been settled in a satisfactory manner and thus all three vessels should remain on the list.
- 10. TCC9 recommended to the Commission that the WCPFC IUU Vessel List remain unchanged. (Attachment C)

AGENDA ITEM 3 —COOPERATING NON-MEMBER APPLICATIONS

- 11. The WCPFC Compliance Manager informed TCC9 that nine applications for renewal of cooperating non-member (CNM) status were received by the Secretariat for 2014. The applications were submitted by Belize, the Democratic People's Republic of Korea (DPRK), Ecuador, El Salvador, Indonesia, Mexico, Panama, Thailand and Vietnam (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/11 (rev 3)). It was noted that no applications were received from two current CNMs: Senegal has not communicated with the Secretariat whereas Saint Kitts and Nevis stated that it did not wish to renew its CNM status and requested that its vessel be removed from the WCPFC Record of Fishing Vessels (RFVs).
- 12. RMI offered to lead a Small Working Group (SWG) to consider the CNM applications.

BELIZE

- 13. TCC9 reviewed the CNM application submitted by Belize against the requirements of CMM 2009-11. In accordance with para. 3 of CMM 2009-11, TCC9's recommendations and technical advice to the Commission are as follows:
 - a) TCC9 advises the Commission that the application from Belize dated 9 August 2013 was not received by the WCPFC Secretariat within the deadline set out in para 1 of CMM 2009-11. TCC9 also advises the Commission that the application met the requirement of being submitted in English.
 - b) TCC9 advises the Commission that Belize has i) provided a commitment to cooperate fully; ii) provided an explicit commitment to accept high seas boarding and inspection; and iii) provided an explicit commitment to make a financial contribution commensurate with what it would be assessed should it become a Contracting Party or member of the Commission pursuant to the scheme of contributions established by the Commission in accordance with Article 18(2) of the Convention. The WCPFC Secretariat will provide, as part of the documentation to be provided for FAC7, and in accordance with the decision of WCPFC7 that all CNMs should make an annual contribution that is 50% of the amount that would be payable if the CNM was to become a member of the Commission, an estimate of Belize's financial contribution for 2014 based on the draft budget for 2014. The WCPFC Secretariat advised TCC9 that Belize has paid a financial contribution for 2013 in the amount of \$15,959.
 - c) TCC9 advises the Commission that, based on the best information available, Belize complied with the participatory rights specified by the Commission at WCPFC8.
 - (d) TCC9 requested the Secretariat ask Belize to provide the following:
 - (i) Information on compliance with the provision of the Convention and the conservation and management measures adopted by the Commission and the fisheries laws and regulations of coastal States in the Convention Area (3(b));
 - (ii) Information with regards to responding to any IUU activities by vessels flying its flag that have been brought to its attention, in accordance with Article 25 of the Convention (3(c));
 - (iii) Information on compliance with conservation and management measures of other Regional Fisheries Management Organizations (3(d));
 - (iv) Information of what measures taken to ensure compliance by its vessels with the Commission's conservation and management measures (11(c));
 - (v) Information of responses to alleged violations of conservation and management measures adopted by the Commission and any IUU activities of vessels flying its flag, in a timely manner (11 (d)).

14. TCC9 recommends that the Commission consider Belize's application for CNM status in 2014, subject to the additional information identified by TCC9 being provided to, and accepted by, the Commission.

DEMOCRATIC PEOPLE'S REPUBLIC OF KOREA (DPRK)

- 15. TCC9 reviewed the CNM application submitted by the Democratic People's Republic of Korea (DPRK) against the requirements of CMM 2009-11. In accordance with para 3 of CMM 2009-11, TCC9's recommendations and technical advice to the Commission are as follows:
 - a) TCC9 advises the Commission that the application from DPRK dated 6 September 2013 was not received by the WCPFC Secretariat within the deadline set out in para 1 of CMM 2009-11. TCC9 also advises the Commission that the application met the requirement of being submitted in English.
 - b) TCC9 advises the Commission that DPRK has i) provided a commitment to cooperate fully; ii) provided an explicit commitment to accept high seas boarding and inspection; and iii) provided an explicit commitment to make a financial contribution commensurate with what it would be assessed should it become a Contracting Party or member of the Commission pursuant to the scheme of contributions established by the Commission in accordance with Article 18(2) of the Convention. The WCPFC Secretariat will provide, as part of the documentation to be provided for FAC7, and in accordance with the decision of WCPFC7 that all CNMs should make an annual contribution that is 50% of the amount that would be payable if the CNM was to become a member of the Commission, an estimate of DPRK's financial contribution for 2014 based on the draft budget for 2014. The Secretariat advised TCC9 that DPRK has not provided a financial contribution for 2013.
 - (c) TCC9 advises the Commission that, based on the best information available, DPRK complied with the participatory rights specified by the Commission at WCPFC8.
- 16. TCC9 requested the Secretariat ask DPRK to provide the following:
 - (i) Commitment to have nationals to comply with provision of the convention and conservation and management measure adopted by the commission (2(b))
 - (ii) AR Part I and II report for 2013 (2(e)), and information if there any research programmes it has conducted in the Convention Area (2(e));
 - (iii) How soon the financial contribution for 2013 can be paid (2(g));
 - (iv). Information on compliance with the provision of the Convention and the conservation and management measures adopted by the Commission and the fisheries laws and regulations of coastal States in the Convention Area (3(b));

- (v). Information with regards to responding to any IUU activities by vessels flying its flag that have been brought to its attention, in accordance with Article 25 of the Convention (3(c));
- (vi). Information on compliance with conservation and management measures of other Regional Fisheries Management Organizations (3(d));
- (vii). Information of what measures taken to ensure compliance by its vessels with the Commission's conservation and management measures (11(c));
- (viii). Information of responses to alleged violations of conservation and management measures adopted by the Commission and any IUU activities of vessels flying its flag, in a timely manner (11 (d)).
- 17. TCC9 recommends that the Commission consider DPRK's application for CNM status in 2014, subject to the additional information identified by TCC9 being provided to, and accepted by, the Commission.

ECUADOR

- 18. TCC9 reviewed the CNM application submitted by Ecuador against the requirements of CMM 2009-11. In accordance with para 3 of CMM 2009-11, TCC9's recommendations and technical advice to the Commission are as follows:
 - a) TCC9 advises the Commission that the application from Ecuador dated 28 June, 2013 was received by the WCPFC Secretariat within the deadline set out in para 1 of CMM 2009-11. TCC9 also advises the Commission that the application met the requirement of being submitted in English.
 - b) TCC9 advises the Commission that Ecuador has i) provided a commitment to cooperate fully; ii) provided an explicit commitment to accept high seas boarding and inspection, however the application does not include an explicit commitment to make a financial contribution commensurate with what it would be assessed should it become a Contracting Party or member of the Commission pursuant to the scheme of contributions established by the Commission in accordance with Article 18(2) of the Convention, which is required by para 2(g) of CMM 2009-11. The WCPFC Secretariat will provide, as part of the documentation to be provided for FAC7, and in accordance with the decision of WCPFC7 that all CNMs should make an annual contribution that is 50% of the amount that would be payable if the CNM was to become a member of the Commission, an estimate of Ecuador's financial contribution for 2014 based on the draft budget for 2014. The Secretariat advised TCC9 that Ecuador provided a contribution of \$33,089 in 2013.
 - c) TCC9 advises the Commission that, based on the best information available, Ecuador complied with the participatory rights specified by the Commission at WCPFC8 and that there is no information of non-compliance with WCPFC CMMs or within other RFMOs. d) TCC9 requested the Secretariat ask Ecuador to provide, in advance of WCPFC9, the following:
 - (i). details of current fishing presence in the Convention Area (2(e));

- (ii). Information on compliance with the provision of the Convention and the conservation and management measures adopted by the Commission and the fisheries laws and regulations of coastal States in the Convention Area (3(b));
 - (iii). Details of the characteristics of current vessels (2(e));
- (iv). Information of responses to alleged violations of conservation and management measures adopted by the Commission and any IUU activities of vessels flying its flag, in a timely manner (11 (d)).
- 19. TCC9 recommends that the Commission consider Ecuador's application for CNM status in 2014, subject to the additional information identified by TCC9 being provided to, and accepted by, the Commission.

EL SALVADOR

- 20. TCC9 reviewed the CNM application submitted by El Salvador against the requirements of CMM 2009-11. In accordance with para 3 of CMM 2009-11, TCC9's recommendations and technical advice to the Commission are as follows:
 - a) TCC9 advises the Commission that the application from El Salvador dated 3 July 2013 was received by the WCPFC Secretariat within the deadline set out in para 1 of CMM 2009-11. TCC9 also advises the Commission that the application met the requirement of being submitted in English.
 - b) TCC9 advises the Commission that El Salvador has i) provided a commitment to cooperate fully; ii) provided an explicit commitment to accept high seas boarding and inspection; and iii) provided an explicit commitment to make a financial contribution commensurate with what it would be assessed should it become a Contracting Party or member of the Commission pursuant to the scheme of contributions established by the Commission in accordance with Article 18(2) of the Convention. The WCPFC Secretariat will provide, as part of the documentation to be provided for FAC7, and in accordance with the decision of WCPFC8 that all CNMs should make an annual contribution that is 50% of the amount that would be payable if the CNM was to become a member of the Commission, an estimate of El Salvador's financial contribution for 2014 based on the draft budget for 2014. The Secretariat advised TCC9 that El Salvador provided a contribution of \$ 27,102.in 2013.
 - c) TCC9 advises the Commission that, based on the best information available, El Salvador complied with the participatory rights specified by the Commission at WCPFC8.
 - d) TCC9 requested the Secretariat ask El Salvador to provide, in advance of WCPFC9, the following:
 - (i). Commitment to have nationals to comply with provision of the convention and conservation and management measure adopted by the commission (2(b)).
 - (ii). Information of any research programmes conducted in the Convention Area (2(e));

- (iii). Information on responding to any IUU activities by vessels flying its flag that have been brought to its attention, in accordance with Article 25 of the Convention (3(c));
- (iv). Information of responses to alleged violations of conservation and management measures adopted by the Commission and any IUU activities of vessels flying its flag, in a timely manner (11 (d)).
- 21. TCC9 recommends that the Commission consider El Salvador's application for CNM status in 2014, subject to the additional information identified by TCC9 being provided to, and accepted by, the Commission.

INDONESIA

- 22. TCC9 reviewed the CNM application submitted by Indonesia against the requirements of CMM 2009-11. In accordance with para 3 of CMM 2009-11, TCC9's recommendations and technical advice to the Commission are as follows:
 - a) TCC9 advises the Commission that the application from Indonesia dated 27 May 2013 was received by the WCPFC Secretariat within the deadline set out in para 1 of CMM 2009-11. TCC9 also advises the Commission that the application met the requirement of being submitted in English.
 - b) TCC9 advises the Commission that Indonesia has i) provided a commitment to cooperate fully; and ii) provided an explicit commitment to accept high seas boarding and inspection. However, the application does not include an explicit commitment to make a financial contribution commensurate with what it would be assessed should it become a Contracting Party or member of the Commission pursuant to the scheme of contributions established by the Commission in accordance with Article 18(2) of the Convention, which is required by para 2(g) of CMM 2009-11. The WCPFC Secretariat will provide, as part of the documentation to be provided for FAC7, and in accordance with the decision of WCPFC7 that all CNMs should make an annual contribution that is 50% of the amount that would be payable if the CNM was to become a member of the Commission, an estimate of Indonesia's financial contribution for 2014 based on the draft budget for 2014. The Secretariat advised TCC9 that Indonesia did not provide a financial contribution in 2013.
 - c) TCC9 advises the Commission that, based on the best information available, Indonesia complied with the participatory rights specified by the Commission at WCPFC8.
 - d) TCC9 requested the Secretariat ask Indonesia to provide, in advance of WCPFC 10, the following:
 - i. Commitment to have nationals to comply with provision of the convention and conservation and management measure adopted by the commission (2(b)).
 - ii. Information of any research programmes conducted in the Convention Area (2(e));

- iii. Commitment to provide financial contribution (2(g));
- iv. Information on record of compliance with the provision of the Convention and the conservation and management measures adopted by the Commission and the fisheries laws and regulations of coastal States in the Convention Area (3(b));
- v. Information on responding to any IUU activities by vessels flying its flag that have been brought to its attention, in accordance with Article 25 of the Convention (3(c));
- vi. record of compliance with conservation and management measures of other Regional Fisheries Management Organizations (3(d));
- vii. Information of what measures taken to ensure compliance by its vessels with the Commission's conservation and management measures (11(c));
- viii. Information of responses to alleged violations of conservation and management measures adopted by the Commission and any IUU activities of vessels flying its flag, in a timely manner (11 (d)).
- 23. TCC9 recommends that the Commission consider Indonesia's application for CNM status in 2014, subject to the additional information identified by TCC9 being provided to, and accepted by, the Commission.
- 24. The Executive Director informed TCC9 that Indonesia recently notified the Secretariat that the President of Indonesia had signed the decree for the ratification of the Convention and that Secretariat staff and the WCPFC Legal Advisor are assisting Indonesia with the steps necessary to complete the ratification process. In anticipation of Indonesia's ratification of the Convention, the Secretariat, in collaboration with FAO, will be presenting a workshop to Indonesian officials on WCPFC and related issues in the third week of October 2013.

MEXICO

- 25. TCC9 reviewed the CNM application submitted by Mexico against the requirements of CMM 2009-11. In accordance with para 3 of CMM 2009-11, TCC9's recommendations and technical advice to the Commission are as follows:
 - a) TCC9 advises the Commission that the application from Mexico dated 24 July 2013 was received by the WCPFC Secretariat within the deadline set out in para 1 of CMM 2009-11. TCC9 also advises the Commission that the application met the requirement of being submitted in English.
 - b) TCC9 advises the Commission that Mexico has provided a commitment to cooperate fully. However, Mexico has not provided an explicit commitment to accept high seas boarding and inspection in accordance with the Commission procedures, which is required by para 2(c) of CMM 2009-11. Mexico's application also does not include an explicit commitment to make a financial contribution commensurate with what it would be assessed should it become a Contracting Party or member of the Commission pursuant to the scheme of contributions established

by the Commission in accordance with Article 18(2) of the Convention. The WCPFC Secretariat will provide, as part of the documentation to be provided for FAC7, and in accordance with the decision of WCPFC7 that all CNMs should make an annual contribution that is 50% of the amount that would be payable if the CNM was to become a member of the Commission, an estimate of Mexico's financial contribution for 2014 based on the budget for 2014. The Secretariat advised TCC9 that Mexico did not provide a financial contribution in 2013.

- c) TCC9 advises the Commission that, based on the best information available, Mexico complied with the participatory rights specified by the Commission at WCPFC8.
- d) TCC9 requested the Secretariat ask Mexico to provide, in advance of WCPFC9, the following:
- i. explicit commitment to accept high seas boarding and inspections in accordance with the Commission's procedures on high seas boarding and inspection (2(c));
- ii. information on names of historical fishing vessels (2(d));
- iii. commitment to provide financial contribution (2(g));
- iv.. AR Part II report (2(e)) and 11(b));
- v. Information of any research programmes conducted in the Convention Area (2(e));
- vi. Information of compliance with the provision of the Convention and the conservation and management measures adopted by the Commission and the fisheries laws and regulations of coastal States in the Convention Area (3(b));
- vii. Information on responding to any IUU activities by vessels flying its flag that have been brought to its attention, in accordance with Article 25 of the Convention (3(c));
- viii. Information of responses to alleged violations of conservation and management measures adopted by the Commission and any IUU activities of vessels flying its flag, in a timely manner (11 (d)).
- 26. TCC9 recommends that the Commission consider Mexico's application for CNM status in 2014, subject to the additional information identified by TCC9 being provided to, and accepted by, the Commission.

PANAMA

- 27. TCC9 reviewed the CNM application submitted by Panama against the requirements of CMM 2009-11. In accordance with para 3 of CMM 2009-11, TCC9's recommendations and technical advice to the Commission are as follows:
 - a) TCC9 advises the Commission that the application from Panama dated 24 April 2013 was received by the WCPFC Secretariat within the deadline set out in

para 1 of CMM 2009-11. TCC9 also advises the Commission that the application met the requirement of being submitted in English.

- b) TCC9 advises the Commission that Panama has provided a commitment to cooperate fully. ii) However, does not provided an explicit commitment to accept high seas boarding and inspection; and ii) does not provided an explicit commitment to make a financial contribution commensurate with what it would be assessed should it become a Contracting Party or member of the Commission pursuant to the scheme of contributions established by the Commission in accordance with Article 18(2) of the Convention. The WCPFC Secretariat will provide, as part of the documentation to be provided for FAC7, and in accordance with the decision of WCPFC7 that all CNMs should make an annual contribution that is 50% of the amount that would be payable if the CNM was to become a member of the Commission, an estimate of Panama's financial contribution for 2014 based on the budget for 2014. The Secretariat advised TCC9 that Panama provided a financial contribution of \$18,615 for 2013
- c) TCC9 advises the Commission that, based on the best information available, Panama complied with the participatory rights specified by the Commission at WCPFC8.
- d) TCC9 requested the Secretariat ask Panama to provide, in advance of WCPFC9, the following:
- i. Commitment to have fishing vessel and national to comply with provision of the convention and conservation and management measure adopted by the commission (2(b)).
- ii. Full data on its historical fisheries in the Convention Area, including nominal catches, number/type of vessels, name of fishing vessels, fishing effort and fishing areas (2(d));
- iii. Details of current fishing presence in the Convention Area, including the number of its vessels and their characteristics (2(e));
- iv. Information of any research programmes conducted in the Convention Area (2(e));
- v. Information of what measures taken to ensure compliance by its vessels with the Commission's conservation and management measures (11(c));
- 28. TCC9 recommends that the Commission consider Panama's application for CNM status in 2014, subject to the additional information identified by TCC9 being provided to, and accepted by, the Commission.

THAILAND

29. TCC9 reviewed the CNM application submitted by Thailand against the requirements of CMM 2009-11. In accordance with para 3 of CMM 2009-11, TCC9's recommendations and technical advice to the Commission are as follows:

- a) TCC9 advises the Commission that the application from Thailand dated 15 August 2013 was not received by the WCPFC Secretariat within the deadline set out in para 1 of CMM 2009 and TCC9 also advises the Commission that the application met the requirement of being submitted in English.
- b) TCC9 advises the Commission that Thailand has i) provided a commitment to cooperate fully; ii) provided an explicit commitment to accept high seas boarding and inspection (but its application notes that it automatically opts out because it does not have any vessels fishing in the WCPO); and iii) provided an explicit commitment to make a financial contribution commensurate with what it would be assessed should it become a Contracting Party or member of the Commission pursuant to the scheme of contributions established by the Commission in accordance with Article 18(2) of the Convention. The WCPFC Secretariat will provide, as part of the documentation to be provided for FAC7, and in accordance with the decision of WCPFC7 that all CNMs should make an annual contribution that is 50% of the amount that would be payable if the CNM was to become a member of the Commission, an estimate of Thailand's financial contribution for 2014 based on the draft budget for 2014. The Secretariat advised TCC9 that Thailand did not provide a financial contribution in 2013.
- c) TCC9 advises the Commission that, based on the best information available, Thailand complied with the participatory rights specified by the Commission at WCPFC8 and has provided data on canneries in Thailand for 2013.
- d) TCC9 requested the Secretariat ask Thailand to provide, in advance of WCPFC10, the following:
- i. Information of any research programmes conducted in the Convention Area (2(e));
- ii. Information on responding to any IUU activities by vessels flying its flag that have been brought to its attention, in accordance with Article 25 of the Convention (3(c));
- iii. Information of what measures taken to ensure compliance by its vessels with the Commission's conservation and management measures (11(c));
- iv. Information of responses to alleged violations of conservation and management measures adopted by the Commission and any IUU activities of vessels flying its flag, in a timely manner (11 (d)).
- 30. TCC9 recommends that the Commission consider Thailand's application for CNM status in 2014, subject to the additional information identified by TCC9 being provided to, and accepted by, the Commission.

VIETNAM

31. TCC9 reviewed the CNM application submitted by Vietnam against the requirements of CMM 2009-11. In accordance with para 3 of CMM 2009-11, TCC9's recommendations and technical advice to the Commission are as follows:

- a) TCC9 advises the Commission that the application from Vietnam dated 10 July 2013 was received by the WCPFC Secretariat within the deadline set out in para 1 of CMM 2009-11. TCC9 also advises the Commission that the application met the requirement of being submitted in English.
- b) TCC9 advises the Commission that Vietnam has i) provided a commitment to cooperate fully; ii) provided an explicit commitment to accept high seas boarding and inspection; and iii) provided an explicit commitment to make a financial contribution commensurate with what it would be assessed should it become a Contracting Party or member of the Commission pursuant to the scheme of contributions established by the Commission in accordance with Article 18(2) of the Convention. The WCPFC Secretariat will provide, as part of the documentation to be provided for FAC7, and in accordance with the decision of WCPFC7 that all CNMs should make an annual contribution that is 50% of the amount that would be payable if the CNM was to become a member of the Commission, an estimate of Vietnam's financial contribution for 2014 based on the draft budget for 2014. The Secretariat advised TCC9 that Vietnam provided a contribution of \$9,305 in 2013.
- c) TCC9 advises the Commission that, based on the best information available, Vietnam complied with the participatory rights specified by the Commission at WCPFC8.
- d) TCC9 requested the Secretariat ask Vietnam to provide, in advance of WCPFC9, the following:
 - i. Information of any research programmes conducted in the Convention Area (2(e));
- ii. Information on record of compliance with the provision of the Convention and the conservation and management measures adopted by the Commission and the fisheries laws and regulations of coastal States in the Convention Area (3(b));
- iii. Information on responding to any IUU activities by vessels flying its flag that have been brought to its attention, in accordance with Article 25 of the Convention (3(c));
- iv. Information of what measures taken to ensure compliance by its vessels with the Commission's conservation and management measures (11(c));
- v. Information of responses to alleged violations of conservation and management measures adopted by the Commission and any IUU activities of vessels flying its flag, in a timely manner (11 (d)).
- 32. TCC9 recommends that the Commission consider Vietnam's application for CNM status in 2014 subject to the additional information identified by TCC9 being provided to, and accepted by, the Commission.
- 33. TCC9 noted that out of the nine applicants for CNM status there were only 3 late applications. With regards to the explicit commitment to pay contribution pursuant to 2(g):
 - i. Three applicant made explicit commitment to make financial contribute and in fact have paid for 2013;

- ii. Two applicants did not make explicit commitment to make financial contribution, however, they have paid for 2013;
- iii. Two applicants have explicitly committed to make financial contribution but not yet paid; and
- iv. Two applicants have not committed to make financial contribution.
- 34. TCC9 noted that this year Senegal has not submitted it renewal of CNM status and that Saint Kitts and Nevis are not applying to renew their Status.
- 35. TCC9 noted that CNM applications fall short of some requirements in CMM 2009-11, and recommend that it will be helpful to have a template for application setting out those requirements under the measure. It is recommended that the Secretariat look into developing such template.

AGENDA ITEM 4 —STATUS OF FISHERIES

- 36. Dr Graham Pilling of SPC presented the status of tuna fisheries in the WCPO in 2013 based on data available through 2012. Total catches of tuna (2.6M t in 2012) were the highest on record and driven mainly by purse seine catches which comprised nearly 70% (1.8M t) of the total. In contrast, longline (10%) catches were relatively stable, while pole and line (9%) catches were at their lowest levels since the 1960s.
- 37. The purse seine fishery has grown rapidly from the early 1980s to 2012 with the majority of the catch comprised of skipjack (SKJ) and lesser quantities of yellowfin (YFT) and bigeye (BET). The number of vessels in the fishery has increased from below 200 in the mid 1990s to nearly 300 vessels currently, with approximately one-third flagged to Pacific Island countries. Effort in terms of days fished according to VMS records was similar in 2012 to that in 2011 but represented an 8% increase over 2010. The total number of sets in 2012 increased 5% over 2011, whereas the number of FAD sets decreased in comparison to 2011 but increased by 10% over the 2007-2011 average. In addition to these trends the number of sets made per day is increasing with time.
- 38. Longline catches from 1960-2012 show a fairly even reliance on BET, YFT and albacore (ALB) with overall catches increasing steadily over time. When catch and effort patterns are examined in latitudinal bands, there is evidence of an increase in BET catches since 2010 in the equatorial region from 5oN to -5oS, and an increase in effort and catch of ALB in the areas from -5oS to -25oS in recent years. In the tropical longline fishery as a whole, effort in terms of hooks fished decreased 7% in 2012 but remained consistent with the five-year average. Fishing effort in days fished as determined through VMS records shows an increase of 6% in 2012 over 2011 and an increase of 14% over the past three years, perhaps due to increased coverage of the Commission's VMS. In contrast, effort based on hooks fished in the southern longline fishery shows an increase of 27% in the past year and 42% over the past five years whereas effort based on VMS days increased 2% from 2011 to 2012 but 14% over the last three years. As in the purse seine fishery, the number

of sets per day in the longline fishery is increasing. It was noted that figures based on VMS data may be influenced by increasing coverage rates.

- 39. Catch trends were also reported by species:
 - i. Overall catches of SKJ (1.7M in 2012) represented an increase of 9% from 2011. Pole and line catches in 2012 were down 24% in comparison with 2011 and the past five years. Purse seine SKJ catches increased by 16% over 2011 and by 5% over the five-year average. However, catch rates appear to be increasing while stock size is declining. Preliminary analysis suggests that late in 2011 there was a period of poor recruitment but ascertaining whether this is due to a reduced stock size or to environmental conditions will require further examination. VMS data for this period show long trips were made signifying poor catches; this will be explored further once more recent data become available.
 - ii. Overall catches of BET in 2012 (161,000 t) increased 1% over 2011 levels, and 6% over the last five years. For the longline fishery 2012 figures were down 2% from 2011 and down 5% over the last five years, whereas for the purse seine fishery 2012 showed increases of 2% on 2011 and 16% over the last five years. Increases in catches from "other" gear types are mainly attributable to new estimates for Indonesia in 2012. Currently catches are higher than the estimated MSY level. Bigeye longline nominal catch rates have declined since the mid 1990s.
 - iii. Overall catches of YFT reached a record high in 2012 (655,000 t), up 26% over 2011 and 22% over the five year average. An increase in catch of 29% in the purse seine fleet contributed to this trend, but was offset by longline catches which fell by 10%. Once again, new catch estimates for Indonesia in 2012 contributed to the rise in catches from "other" gear types and helped drive the overall trend. In terms of catch rates, there was an observed decline in the purse seine fishery. In the longline fishery, catch rates for YFT have shown a long term decline in since the 1990s (as for BET) but there has been a slight rebound in recent years.
 - iv. Overall Convention Area catches of ALB in 2012 (132,000 t) rose 5% over 2011 levels and 7% over the past five years. However, for the South Pacific ALB fishery only (89,000 t in 2012), the increases in catches were 24% above 2011 and 22% above the five year average. In terms of catch rate series, the fleets from Korea and Chinese Taipei showed declining catch rates, the fleet from Japan showed a declining catch rate followed by a recovery, and the fleet from China showed high variability in catch rates.
- 40. The status of BET, YFT and SKJ stocks as of 2011, and the status of the South Pacific ALB stock as of 2012 (corresponding to the latest stock assessments), were shown on Kobe plots. SKJ, YFT and ALB are in the green quadrant corresponding to not overfished and overfishing not occurring. Nevertheless, there are concerns regarding catch rates in the YFT and South Pacific ALB fisheries. Overfishing is occurring for the BET stock. All stocks are at or near their lowest levels in the time series. The status of other stocks is as follows: South Pacific swordfish is not

- overfished but overfishing may be occurring; Southwest Pacific striped marlin is likely to be overfished but overfishing is not occurring; oceanic whitetip shark is overfished and overfishing is occurring; and silky shark has a high likelihood of being overfished and overfishing is occurring.
- 41. FFA members considered that the presentation delivered a clear message that catches are at their highest levels, stock sizes are at record lows and some stocks are depleted resulting in an undermining of sustainable fisheries management. These CCMs called for an end to overfishing of BET, a reduction of FAD fishing, improved management of the South Pacific ALB fishery and strengthening of CMMs and their implementation.
- 42. In response to a query, Dr Pilling indicated that approximately 30-40% of the total number of sets in the purse seine fishery are sets on FADs.
- 43. FFA members considered that the analysis of catch and effort by latitudinal bands confirmed that the lower catches in 2012 may be due to stock depletion rather than reduced effort under the Commission's CMMs. They requested that in addition to partitioning the catch by latitude, future SPC analysis partition the catches between EEZs and the high seas.
- 44. Another CCM requested that SPC provide a clearer picture of the relative amount of catch in the South Pacific ALB fishery which can be attributed to EEZ versus high seas areas.
- 45. In response to these two comments, Dr Pilling noted that a lack of access to operational data from all fleets represents a major constraint to SPC's ability to partition the data as requested. The best that can be achieved under the current data limitations is a rough estimate by EEZ or high seas area.
- 46. Japan acknowledged that it had failed to partition its aggregated catch and effort data into EEZ and high seas areas in previous data provisions and committed to remedying this oversight as soon as possible.
- 47. In response to a question about the Kobe plot for ALB, Dr Pilling clarified that the plot was based on results for the South Pacific ALB stock assessment, which covered the entire South Pacific region (i.e. both WCPFC and IATCC areas).

AGENDA ITEM 5 —SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS OF DEVELOPING STATES

- 48. The TCC Chair introduced this topic by explaining that is a standing agenda item for TCC to consider WCPFC's obligations with regard to the aspirations of small island developing States (SIDS) under the WCPF Convention. TCC9 was also invited to comment on the effectiveness of Resolution 2008-01 on the Aspirations of Small Island Developing States and Territories.
- 49. FFA members made a number of points on each of the two related topics and referred to WCPFC-TCC9-2013/DP-08 which provides the details of their statements. Regarding requirements under the Convention, FFA members highlighted the need for full recognition of the unique and vulnerable status of

SIDS and their high social and economic dependence on tuna resources. It is therefore considered imperative that any measure contemplated by the WCPFC include an assessment of the potential impacts on SIDS and provide for assistance mechanisms, if required. Assistance in three main areas was requested: increased commercialism of tuna fisheries and related industries; enhanced capacity for conservation and management of fisheries by SIDS; and broader cooperation to recognise the importance of rights-based management and facilitate development of appropriate management regimes. A need for assistance in eight specific areas was also noted including avoiding disproportionate burdens in tropical tuna management, management of South Pacific ALB, technical assistance for CMM implementation, funding for participation in meetings, port sampling, observer data management, development of the Information Management System (IMS), and prioritization and streamlining of agendas. Regarding the effectiveness of Resolution 2008-01, FFA members noted that they will make a proposal on this topic at TCC10 with the aim of strengthening the resolution by converting it to a binding CMM and including elements of transfer rights, avoiding disproportionate burdens and transfer payments. The overall objective remains focused on ensuring that a greater share of the benefits of the fisheries accrue to SIDS. recognizing that over 60 vessels have been transferred since 2008, it was noted that constraints on legitimate investments in FFA member countries continue and must be overcome.

AGENDA ITEM 6 —DRAFT MULTI-YEAR MANAGEMENT PROGRAMME FOR TROPICAL TUNAS AND COMPLIANCE ISSUES (CMM 2012-01)

6.1 Review Tokyo WG-TT Outcomes

- 50. Dr Charles Karnella, the WCPFC Chair, led a discussion of progress made toward a new CMM for tropical tunas (CMM 2013-01) at and subsequent to the Working Group on Tropical Tunas meeting in Tokyo in late August. TCC9 was referred to a letter from the Chair on the outcomes of this meeting (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/12), comments received from the EU and Korea related specifically on a draft produced at the close of that meeting by the PNA, Japan and the Philippines, comments from New Zealand on the topic generally and the United States paper presented at the Tokyo meeting (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/13). In addition, information relating to the performance of the existing measure (CMM 2012-01) was provided in papers WCPFC-TCC9-2013/IP-04, IP-05 and IP-06. The WCPFC Chair suggested that TCC9's discussions could most usefully focus on the issue of how to manage fishing effort on FADs including the position of PNA members that any FAD closure beyond three months represents a disproportionate burden on SIDS and would thus require a transfer payment of \$15 million per month of closure.
- 51. PNA members reviewed their joint proposal with Japan and the Philippines for CMM 2013-01 noting that there were still differences between the Japanese and PNA proposals as well as a range of views among other members on some of the elements in the Draft. They explained that there are three major principles guiding

the content of the proposal. The first is that it responds to the scientific advice. The second is that it aims to remove bigeye overfishing based on the analysis by SPC of alternative strategies for removing bigeye overfishing. The third is that it addresses the need to avoid a disproportionate burden being transferred to SIDS. PNA members outlined the main features of the joint proposal as follows:

- i. The approach is to base the new measure on the advice from the Scientific Committee that additional measures are needed to reduce fishing mortality in both the longline and purse seine fisheries, and the analysis presented by SPC showing the level of reductions in longline catches and FAD effort necessary to remove bigeye overfishing.
- ii. There have to be extensions to the FAD closure or equivalent FAD set limits, to address the need for reductions in juvenile bigeye mortality from fishing on FADs. In this respect, the SPC analysis identifies that a 6.4 months FAD closure or equivalent FAD sets limit is needed to remove bigeye overfishing. The PNA proposal is for a 5 months FAD closure or equivalent FAD sets limit, but with a total closure on the use of FADs in the high seas in response to the high bigeye CPUE from FAD sets in the high seas. These together would be equivalent to the 6.4 months FAD closure or equivalent FAD sets limit.
- iii. PNA supports the continued inclusion of the alternative FAD set limit measure as a response to create incentive to reduce FAD use and as a response to the scientific advice to develop methods to control the number of FAD sets outside the FAD closure period. PNA also supports basing the alternative FAD set limit measure for non-SIDS on the proportion of total sets, as a fairer approach for non-SIDS.
- iv. PNA proposes to retain the basic approach to purse seine effort management in CMM 2012-01, but with a hard limit for the high seas. This is an essential element for the purpose of managing the skipjack fishery and contributing to bigeye conservation. It also responds directly to the Scientific Committee for clear limits to purse seine effort in all areas. In establishing a limit for the high seas that is compatible with the 2010 limit for PNA EEZs, it also meets the requirement of the Convention for compatibility with in-zone measures.
- v. On capacity management, PNA supports the need for a non-SIDS freeze and a regional capacity management plan to cover both purse seine and longline vessels.
- vi. For the longline fishery, additional catch reductions are proposed based on the SPC analysis.
- vii. PNA continues to propose, in addition, a closure of high seas fishing by distant water longliners during the FAD closure period, as a response to concern over longline effort in the high seas.
- viii. In addition, it remains a fundamental element that the proposals for reducing FAD use are part of a package. This package must include

arrangements, including financial arrangements, to ensure that the CMM does not transfer a disproportionate burden to SIDS in accordance with Article 30. The package must also include balancing longline measures.

- 52. FFA members expressed their general support for the concepts presented by the PNA. They noted that many FFA delegations had come to TCC prepared to discuss technical and compliance issues and did not include fisheries management and senior policy staff necessary to take positions on some elements of the draft measure. A concern was expressed that the measure as currently drafted does not require BET catch reductions for the longline fishery sufficient to meet the objectives of maintaining the BET stock at sustainable levels. FFA members also reiterated the need for explicit consideration of the disproportionate burden of BET conservation but welcomed alternative proposals that would meet the requirements of Article 30 of the WCPF Convention.
- The EU précised its comments on the draft proposal (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/13 (rev 1). One of its primary concerns is that the number of options for controlling FAD fishing effort will make the measure difficult to monitor as well as complicate predictions of its effectiveness in achieving F reductions (e.g. uncertainties in which CCMs will choose to exercise which options). The exemptions of domestic FAD management plans from the FAD management provisions of the measure (Footnote 1) is also a concern. Regarding the transfer payment to compensate for the disproportionate burden, the EU requested further dialogue on its rationale, distribution mechanisms and alternatives. While recognizing the need to limit effort on the high seas, the EU expressed reluctance to close high seas noting that since 95% of BET is caught within EEZs high seas closures would have little effect on conservation. Clarification on the provisions applicable to longliners which do not target tropical tunas was requested, as the EU considers that they should not be targeted by the measure. On the issue of effort and capacity limitations, the EU expressed interest in participating in further discussions on applicable reference years and capacity management. Finally, the EU suggested that the measure be reviewed and amended in 2014 rather than 2015 to take account of information which will become available in 2014.
- 54. New Zealand summarized their submitted comments on the draft measure, reiterating it is important to go beyond the provisions in the current measures (CMM 2012-01) and take further action to reduce F on BET while maintaining consistency with the requirements of Article 30 of the WCPF Convention and balancing the conservation burden across CCMs and fleets. Provision of transfer payments was supported in cases where analysis demonstrates a particular SIDS suffers a disproportionate burden. New Zealand supported in principle the option of a limit on FAD sets as an alternative to a FAD closure period because it offers more flexibility for the fisheries and provides for year-round effort limits, but noted the importance of compliance monitoring. Effort limits for high seas purse seine fisheries, closure of the Eastern High Seas Pocket (EHSP) and capacity management for both longline and purse seine fleets were supported, and more explicit catch limits on yellowfin tuna were suggested.

- 55. Korea expressed concern about the number of exemptions contained within the draft measure and called on CCMs to make sacrifices beyond those in the existing measure (CMM 2012-01) in order to achieve the objectives of a sustainable fishery. Concerns were also expressed about the ability to monitor FAD set limits and the need to agree on a precise and practical definition of what constitutes a set on a FAD.
- 56. The United States introduced its views on the tropical tunas CMM by noting that it is aiming for a measure which is fair, effective, implementable and enforceable. It considered that working from the baselines established in CMM 2008-01 would be a reasonable way forward. They also thanked SPC for identifying levels of reduction in the activities of the purse seine and longline fleets that would result in both sectors contributing equally toward achieving the reductions necessary to meet the objectives. However, the United States noted that more clarity is required on actual baseline catches and effort so that there is appropriate transparency in the basis for limits set in the new measure. With regard to the expiry of the measure, the United States considers that this date should be fixed, rather than allowing the measure to continue in effect until rescinded or amended. The United States introduced its proposal for a new CMM (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/DP-07), highlighting four key issues:
 - i.Effort limits for purse seines on the high seas and non-PNA EEZs. The United States supports giving each CCM the option to adopt either effort limits from 2008-01 or limits based on 2010 effort on the high seas and in its EEZ. The United States does not support an Olympic (i.e. first come, first served) system for limiting effort on the high seas. It was noted that adopting a single year as a baseline would inequitably disadvantage some fleets while benefitting others.
 - ii. FAD closures. This method of reducing FAD-based fishing effort is supported because a diversity of management options is likely to prove more difficult to monitor and enforce, as well as more difficult to evaluate in terms of expected outcomes. Further work on mitigating the effects of FAD fishing on small BET and YFT, and setting of more explicit limits on YFT catches is encouraged.
 - iii. Capacity limits for purse seine and longline fisheries. The United States reiterated its support for caps on the capacity of non-SIDS fleets, as proposed at WCPFC9 and previously, and for continued, orderly development of fishing capacity in SIDS and territories. This should include a capacity management plan and a mechanism for vessel transfers based on market forces and which will not add capacity to the region. The United States expressed its willingness to participate in efforts led by RMI to further develop these ideas.
 - iv. BET catch limits for longline fisheries. The United States has proposed BET catch limits for eleven CCMs, as well as an allocation of 10,717 t for SIDS and participating territories, for a total catch limit of 75,000 t per year (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/DP-07, Attachment D). This set-aside for

SIDS does not imply that there is limit on their development aspirations, therefore if a larger allocation becomes necessary, negotiation with existing CCM longline fishery participants will be conducted to increase the set-aside. Spatial management may also help ease fishing pressure on the stock.

- 57. Chinese Taipei expressed support for an effort limit for high seas purse seine fisheries but stated that these effort limits should be allocated by fleet rather than implemented in an Olympic manner. Chinese Taipei does not support the closure of the EHSP on the grounds that the current special management area CMM (CMM 2010-02) is working well. A FAD closure would be supported assuming that: i) it is implemented in accordance with a strong scientific basis; ii) equivalencies between closure periods and catch limits in terms of F reduction can be demonstrated; and iii) that its implementation be coordinated with IATTC conservation and management measures. With regard to capacity management, Chinese Taipei advocates freezing fishing capacity in non-SIDS and but notes that some longline fleets have already met BET catch limits and this should be recognized. Finally, Chinese Taipei warned against the inclusion of exemptions which undermine the effectiveness of stock rebuilding efforts.
- 58. The Philippines expressed its appreciation to PNA members and Japan for the opportunity to jointly develop the draft proposal for CMM 2013-01. The Philippines noted that not all FADs are the same, in particular that anchored FADs appear to have less impact on small BET, and tabled a paper describing some recent work on this topic in the Philippine EEZ (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/DP-09).
- 59. In response to the US proposal the EU stated that it shares concerns about the difficulty of monitoring CMMs with a variety of alternative components, and advised that all components must have a strong scientific basis. The EU also appreciated the US raising the issues of alternatives to the transfer payments, catch retention plans, catch limits for YFT, regional capacity management and high seas effort limits, all of which will require further discussion.
- 60. In response to a request for more information on the transfer payment issue, RMI stated that it was a response to the conservation burden becoming more and more disproportionate over time and that it was rooted in the requirements of Article 30 of the Convention. Those CCMs with ideas for alternatives were invited to raise them for discussion.
- 61. The United States expressed its willingness to engage in further dialogue with PNA members in order to better understand the background and details of the transfer payment approach.
- 62. FFA members strongly supported the PNA proposal's call for a transfer payment and noted that it is based on an assessment of benefits and costs that will flow from the CMM. FFA members stated that i) the WCPF Convention requires consideration of disproportionate burdens; ii) that there is currently a lack of incentives to support measures which primarily benefit others; and iii) that the diversion of revenues away from social services programmes in SIDS needs to be addressed.

- 63. Tuvalu echoed these points by providing specific examples from an assessment conducted there. Tuvalu is one of the world's smallest countries and is listed by the World Bank as a fragile economy. From one-quarter to one-half of the national economy depends on fisheries and 60% of the fishing in Tuvalu is FAD-dependent. It has been estimated that a three-month FAD closure will result in nearly USD 10 million of lost revenues to Tuvalu. While the fishery could, in theory, shift to free schools during the FAD closure, the cost of free school fishing is 69% higher and this will reduce the profits in the fisheries and the revenues to Tuvalu. A further calculation suggests that FAD closures represent a subsidy paid by Tuvalu to the longline fishery of USD 11,283 per tonne of BET conserved.
- 64. Tokelau stated that it also receives little benefit from BET conservation yet as result of management measures loses revenue that could be spent improving public health.
- 65. Tuvalu and the United States agreed to lead a SWG in the margins of TCC9 to further discuss these issues.
- 66. The EU requested a background document explaining how the amount of the transfer payment had been calculated. In response to a request from the WCPFC Chair to comment on elements of the proposal related to the high seas, the EU stated it would not support a complete closure but would support a workable system of limiting effort on the high seas and avoiding a simple transfer of that effort to EEZs.
- 67. FFA members stated that a high seas FAD closure would be preferable to an EEZ-based FAD closure as it would avoid impacts to SIDS.
- 68. With regard to the EHSP, the Cook Islands noted the FFA position that the EHSP should be closed derives from a statement made by the Pacific Island Forum Leaders.
- 69. Some CCMs expressed doubts that closing the EHSP is the most appropriate way to solve the problems there. Instead, it was suggested that the design and enforcement of effective compliance schemes would better address the issues.
- 70. The Cook Islands noted that to date EHSP compliance schemes had not been effective.
- 71. The WCPFC Chair closed the discussion on CMM 2013-01 and explained that he would continue to work through remaining issues in the draft text via discussions with CCMs in the margins of TCC9 and intersessionally.

6.2 Reports from CCMs implementing the alternative FAD measure in CMM 2012-01 (CMM 2012-01, Attachment E, para 1 (5)))

72. Japan presented WCPFC-TCC9-2013/DP-06 on implementation of the FAD set limitation by Japanese purse seine vessels under CMM 2012-01. TCC9 was reminded that Japan selected to place a limit on FAD sets as an alternative to a FAD closure and has reported required information on the number of FAD sets and the estimated BET catch at two-week intervals. As of 31 August 2013, Japanese

purse seine vessels had made 598 FAD sets, which represents 40.5% of the annual limit. Thus far for 2013 Japanese purse seiners in total caught 1158.6 t of BET (individual subtotals for FAD sets and free sets not available). There appeared to be a correlation between the number of FAD sets and the catch of BET using monthly tallies, while divergence was observed when plotted by vessel. Japan concludes from these results that the FAD set limit is effective in reducing the catch of BET.

- 73. In response to a question, Japan clarified that zero catches on FADs were included in the data set.
- 74. Some CCMs acknowledged Japan for providing this information as required in the CMM and suggested that Japan provided a good example of how a FAD set limit can be monitored and measured. Other CCMs which have also elected to apply the FAD set limit were encouraged to provide similar reports.
- 75. FSM explained that it is one of the CCMs electing a FAD set limit and it has submitted weekly data as required to the Secretariat. However, obtaining the data from the purse seine vessel operators has proven difficult and resulted in delays in submission. FSM stated that only 141 FAD sets had been recorded to date, well under the limit of 606. This was attributed to a large portion of the fleet undergoing drydocking this year, resulting in a lower level of fishing effort overall.
- 76. Kiribati noted that it too had elected the FAD set limit but that it also had encountered problems in receiving the data from the vessel operators and has had to rely on logsheets. Thus far 29 FAD sets have been recorded with a total catch of 1075 BET. Kiribati stated that it considered the reporting requirements a burden given the small number of fishery staff available to handle this.

6.3 Review available information on compliance issues for CMMs on tropical tunas (2009-2013)

- 77. The TCC Chair invited TCC9 to review data summaries prepared by SPC which pertain to compliance with the CMMs on tropical tunas (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/IP-04 (rev 1).
- 78. FFA members highlighted three points in the data summaries:
 - i. In Table 1, the column labelled "CMM 2008-01" shows limits for the number of days fished for non-PNA SIDS which never existed. In addition, although Footnote 2 to Table 1 acknowledges that some aspects of the CMM have not been taken into account when preparing the table, the tallies for the PNA EEZs are misleading for this reason.
 - ii. According to Table 2, the EU has exceeded its limit on purse seine days fished by 3-4 times. FFA noted that of para. 7 of CMM 2008-01 states that the registration of bilateral agreements or arrangements does not provide a basis for establishing effort levels on the high seas, therefore the EU has had a hard limit of 103 fishing days in the high seas since 2009. FFA members considered that the systematic overfishing of the EU high seas fleet's high seas limit was a serious compliance issue which had

- significantly undermined the effectiveness of the CMM 2008-01 and CMM 2012-01.
- iii. Also in Table 2, FFA members stated they will raise issues related to the reported BET catches by China and Korea within the CMR process. However, the lack of operational data submitted for these fleets limits the ability to review their compliance.
- 79. Korea explained that although it exceeded its BET catch limit in 2012 this is mainly due to catches in the WCPFC-IATTC overlap area. Korea noted that it plans a voluntary catch reduction from the quantity allocated under the 2013 quota.

AGENDA ITEM 7—COMPLIANCE MONITORING SCHEME (CMS)

7.1 Review of draft Compliance Monitoring Review (CMR) Report

80. TCC9 conducted these discussions conducted in closed session.

7.2 Provisional CMR Report for 2012 and Executive Summary

- 81. TCC9 found that conducting the review of the Draft Report on an obligation-by-obligation basis proved useful and informative. TCC9 recommends that improvements to the process continue to be made taking into account the recommendations of this record.
- 82. TCC9 recommends a greater consultation between CCMs and the Secretariat in the preparation of the dCMRs noting that this is still a work in progress.
- 83. TCC9 recommends that the WG be given sufficient time in the Agenda to conduct its review of the Draft Report, noting that it took significant time during TCC9 to complete its review.
- 84. TCC9 recommends that in the development of new CMMs, the Commission take into account the outcomes of the CMR process with respect to clarifying obligations.
- 85. TCC9 recommends that all CCMs make best efforts to provide any additional information to the Secretariat identified during the WG review at least 30 days prior to WCPFC10.
- 86. TCC9 reiterated the confidentiality of the Draft and Provisional Compliance Monitoring Report and also notes that the same level of confidentiality applies to the discussions and outcomes of the WG.
- 87. There is a need to distinguish between the obligation to submit information and the obligation to meet an agreed deadline and/or format. TCC9

recommended that the CMS CMM be amended to ensure that reporting deadlines are assessed as part of the compliance review, and that this be done in addition to review of the implementation. This includes deadlines for submission of Annual Reports-Parts 1 and 2, Scientific Data, and "Fished/Did Not Fish" reports, among others.

- 88. Most CCMs reiterated that the process of the CMS and outcomes of the CMS must take into account the special requirements of SIDS and in particular Article 30 and Resolution 2008-01. This includes aspects of CMMs, conduct of assessments and the actions agreed to assist SIDS to resolve any implementation issues identified.
- 89. TCC9 adopted the Provisional Compliance Monitoring Report, and forwarded it to the Commission for consideration at WCPFC10.

7.3 Target Capacity Assistance to Areas of Need Identified by CMR Process

- 90. TCC9 was invited to comment on a table prepared by the Secretariat (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/07, Table 1) which lists requests for assistance from CCMs relating to the 2012 and 2013 CMR process.
- 91. FFA members highlighted two types of requests of particular importance. The first type was requests pertaining to observer programmes. Those which were particularly important to SIDS included observer and debriefer training on ROP data collection, quality control and management. The second type was capacity building for policy development including national plans of action, license conditions, VMS obligations and identification and implementation of mitigation measures. Appreciation was expressed for assistance provided by the Special Requirements Fund and the Japan Trust Fund, and CCMs were encouraged to continue to contribute through these mechanisms.
- 92. The TCC Chair suggested that CCMs with assistance needs consider raising these points for inclusion in the Executive Summary of the Compliance Monitoring Scheme (CMS).
- 93. The United States noted that it contributes experienced debriefers and training personnel to annual meetings of an observer coordinators group convened by SPC, as well as in-country training programmes, and will continue to do so. Although these contributions have been on an *ad hoc* basis thus far, the United States is now working with FFA to determine the focus of future collaboration.
- 94. RMI requested specific assistance with mitigation measures for bycatch species, both through observer training and through outreach/education to vessel captains and crew.

7.4 Review of CMM 2012-02 Compliance Monitoring Scheme and discuss potential refinements to the scheme (WCPFC9 para. 296)

95. The United States introduced it proposal for continuing the Compliance Monitoring Scheme as a permanent measure rather than a single year measure as has been agreed in each of the three years of operation thus far (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/DP-

- 04). The proposal was circulated in July and comments were received from some CCMs, the TCC Chair and the Secretariat. The current proposal incorporates those comments which included reducing the categories of compliance status to "compliant" or "non-compliant and...", with the latter allowing for the TCC to specify details, data gaps, rectification or necessary assistance. The other key amendment highlighted by the United States was the establishment of an intersessional working group to identify responses to non-compliance.
- 96. PNA members stated that it is reasonable for the measure to include a provision for evaluating compliance with collective obligations such as the PNA effort limit under the VDS, but iterated that the evaluation of compliance should be limited to obligations under the CMMs. The assessment of compliance should be in terms of PNA's collective obligation to comply with the limit for PNA EEZs in the CMM, and not in relation to individual PNA member CCMs.
- 97. FFA members stated their support for some of the amendments to the proposal such as including submission of Annual Reports-Part 2 in the compliance evaluation, and the revision of the compliance status categories was also welcomed. The revision of the compliance status categories was also welcomed. The concept of an intersessional working group was not supported on the basis that it could marginalize the participation of SIDS and that such work as it might take up could be handled by the Assistant Compliance Manager. Converting the annual measure to a permanent one was also not supported on the basis that there is still work to be done to ensure that all CCMs have a full understanding of their compliance responsibilities and that responses to non-compliance will take more time to develop. FFA members also supported the inclusion of the Commission's performance against the objectives of Article 30 of the Convention and Resolution 2008-01 as items to be considered in the compliance evaluation.
- 98. The EU noted that it had submitted comments on the draft proposal and supports the current version of the text.
- 99. Japan also expressed support for the United States proposal as drafted but provided three additional comments. First, to ensure that substantive discussions take place in closed sessions, this requirement should be made specific in para. 13. Second, Japan concurs with the establishment of the working group in para. 23 but suggested that the basis for the working group be specified through explicit reference to Article 14.3 of the Convention. Finally, Japan expressed interest in knowing what kind of responses to non-compliance might be considered and suggested that TCC9 further discuss this topic after the 2013 CMR process is completed.
- 100. The United States offered to consult in the margins and prepare a revised draft incorporating comments arising through the CMR process. This was tabled as WCPFC-TCC9-2013/DP-04 (rev 1). Changes were highlighted in the following areas: the responsibilities for providing the information and providing the information on time were separated so that CCMs would be evaluated on these points; changes were made to clarify the evaluation of collective obligations; the role of the Secretariat in preparing the draft compliance monitoring reports, and the

- format of that report, was clarified; and information provided prior to the Commission meeting was changed to be provided 30 days in advance.
- 101. FFA members thanked the United States for the revisions and stated that they could agree to the establishment of an intersessional working group to develop responses to non-compliance on the condition that meetings of this group be held in a way that allows FFA members to provide substantial input, e.g. in conjunction with an existing FFA meeting. However, FFA members stated that they could not support making the CMS a permanent measure for reasons stated previously.
- 102. One CCM while expressing its full support for the CMR process, stated that there are still aspects of it that require further work and thus making it a permanent measure would be premature.
- 103. The EU supported the United States' proposal but suggested a further amendment to the description of the format of the draft CMR to specify a default format that could be modified annually, if necessary, rather than needing to be agreed each year (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/DP-04(rev 1), para. 12).
- 104. The TCC Chair suggested that further comments may be forthcoming in the final discussion of the CMR for 2012.
- 105. TCC9 agreed that the United States would continue to work intersessionally on a revised CMS proposal, and that comments should be provided by November 2nd 2013.

7.5 Review of Annual Reporting templates and deadlines and online interface further development

- 106. The Compliance Manager reviewed recent progress with development of an online template for Annual Reports-Part 2 (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/07 and WCPFC-TCC9-2013/IP-01 (rev 3)). The timeliness of CCM reporting of Annual Report Part 2 improved considerably in 2013, and all CCMs that submitted an Annual Report Part 2 covering 2012 activities successfully used the online interface for reporting. For the Secretariat the strength of the online reporting system of Annual Report Part 2, was that parts of the draft CMR reports could be generated using the CCM Annual Report Part 2 responses. Some of the features which were provided as part of the Annual Report Part 2 online interface included MTU audit inspection reporting, and of the submissions for 2012 (due in July 2013) about half utilized the online template while the other half submitted the information on spreadsheets. Requests for assistance and suggestions for improvements from CCMs are shown in the paper (Box 1) and the feedback that the Secretariat received from CCMs on the Annual Report Part 2 is shown in Box 2. Feedback received by the Secretariat to date is largely positive and the Secretariat welcomes further feedback from CCMs during TCC9.
- 107. FFA members thanked the Secretariat for its work on the online interface and stated that they supported this work as a priority task. However, FFA members do not support review of the Annual Report template. It was noted that the submission

- dates should be rationalized since it is currently the case that AR-Part 2 reports cross-reference AR-Part 1 reports but are due earlier.
- 108. In response to a question, the Secretariat explained that it was open to suggestions from TCC9 about prioritization of improvements. Based on the comments from CCMs as summarised in the paper and during TCC9, the Secretariat has taken there is in principle support for the Annual Report Part 2 online interface being made available for CCMs to use in 2014 (for reporting on 2013 activities). If no clear preferences are expressed, the Secretariats work will focus on practical and cost-effective improvements which would most significantly enhance the functionality of the reporting template.
- 109. One CCM appreciated the work of the Secretariat in providing the template stating that it assists not only with reporting but also with that CCM's internal national administrative tracking.

7.6 Developing a systematic analysis, prioritization and response mechanism for non-compliance (TCC Workplan 2015)

- 110. The TCC Chair invited TCC9 to consider the issue of developing responses to non-compliances identified as part of the CMR.
- 111. FFA stated that responses to non-compliance should be developed by the Commission rather than by the TCC. Several factors were recommended for consideration when developing these responses including whether the nature of the non-compliance is limited versus broadscale or unintentional versus wilful; defining precise requirements for compliance; moving gradually from corrective actions to penalties; and the special requirements of SIDS. The issue of non-provision of operational data was highlighted and remedies such as a plan to provide these data in future, a higher level of observer coverage for these fleets, or denial of access to WCPFC non-public domain data such as ROP and VMS data, were suggested.
- 112. One CCM queried whether specific comments arising from TCC9's discussion of this topic would be forwarded to the Commission.
- 113. The TCC Chair suggested that those CCMs with specific comments raise them when the Commission takes up this issue at WCPFC10.
- 114. TCC9 agreed to refer the issue of development of responses to non-compliance to WCPFC10 for further action.

7.7 Consider recommendations from the CMS process about CMM provisions that are ambiguous or problematic

115. The TCC Chair asked TCC9 to consider whether there are any recommendations arising from the CMS process calling for clarification of CMM provisions which are ambiguous or problematic. Identification of potential issues by the Secretariat in the areas of catch and effort limits for target species, catch and effort reporting for target species, spatial and temporal closures and restrictions on the use of FADs,

- observer and VMS coverage, and scientific data provision are provided in WCPFC-TCC9-07.
- 116. TCC9 recommends that the Commission clarify that for CMM 2005-03, the reporting responsibility lies with the flag State.
- 117. TCC9 recommends that the Commission clarify that CCMs identify in their 2014 Annual Report Part 2 which metric they used to calculate the percentage of longline observer coverage for 2013.

AGENDA ITEM 8 —HIGHLIGHTS OF WCPFC SECRETARIAT-ADMINISTERED MCS AND COMPLIANCE PROGRAMMES

8.1 Annual Report of the Executive Director

- 118. The Executive Director highlighted progress on a number of key tasks of the Commission over the past year, and drew CCMs attention to the new format for reports required under the Convention and CMMs (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/RP-01 through RP-09, and WCPFC-TCC9-2013-IP/03)
- 119. It was noted that establishment of a new position for an Assistant Compliance Manager, taken up by Ms 'Ana Taholo has greatly facilitated work on compliance-related issues. The Executive Director also noted that the costs of the Commission's Vessel Monitoring System (VMS) are now stable, and that Commission staff have participated in the tendering process for the new VMS services provider to the FFA through which the Commission's VMS operates under a Service Level Agreement (SLA). Implementation of the VMS "Flick the Switch" agreement for automatic VMS positions from WCPFC9 commenced as of 6 September 2013 and those CCMs participating in the agreement may request data for periods prior to the implementation date through the Commission.

8.2 Vessel Monitoring System (VMS)

- 120. Mr Albert Carlot, VMS Manager, presented the annual report for the Commission VMS (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/RP-01) which provides an overview of the data received and lists the types of units that have been approved for use in the system. Work on developing appropriate communications gateways for two new Mobile Tranceiver Units (MTUs) which are not currently approved is continuing with service providers and manufacturers. With regard to manual reporting, it was noted that there is still further work to be done to standardize reporting formats and at present received data are maintained on a separate, local database rather than within the VMS itself. The VMS Manager introduced draft guidelines for VMS reporting requirements, prepared at the request of a CCM, which compile the basic VMS reporting requirements contained in a number of Commission CMMs (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/IP-09).
- 121. RMI described an incident in March 2013 in which an Australian marine patrol aircraft identified 19 longline fishing vessels flagged to Chinese Taipei within 100

- nmi of the northwest RMI EEZ boundary. These vessels are listed on the WCPFC RFV but were not found to be reporting their positions to the Commission's VMS and were not manually reporting. An update on the investigation by the flag state was requested.
- 122. Chinese Taipei stated that all of the vessels had submitted VTAFs as required and no notification of non-reporting has been received from the Secretariat. It was also noted that these vessels were reporting positions to the Chinese Taipei national VMS centre. A Chinese Taipei VMS expert will visit the Secretariat in order to further investigate why the Commission's VMS was not receiving reports from these vessels.
- 123. FFA members queried whether the Secretariat has implemented an appropriate buffer zone around the Convention Area as agreed at TCC8.
- 124. The WCPFC VMS Manager explained that there is no buffer zone to the west of the Convention Area but a buffer zone has been implemented at the Convention Area boundary to the east.
- 125. One CCM stated that there is no need for a buffer zone to the west of the Convention Area.
- 126. The TCC Chair encouraged CCMs with any updates to the tables contained in the Annual Report for the Commission VMS (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/RP-01) to provide that information to the Secretariat.

(a) Review implementation of WCPFC9 decision on VMS SSP Manual Reporting

- 127. The WCPFC VMS Manager noted that issues relating to the VTAF (Vessel Tracking Agreement Form (VTAF) and manual reporting, as specified in the VMS SSPs Section 5, are discussed in WCPFC-TCC9-2013/RP-01. TCC9 was invited to discuss these issues.
- 128. FFA members reiterated their concern from TCC7 and TCC8 that the VTAF requirement is redundant for vessels already on the FFA Vessel Register since the FFA MTU certification complies with the Commission's MTU requirements. Therefore it was recommended that vessels in good standing on the FFA Vessel Register be excluded from the VTAF requirements, and that confirmation of vessel status with regard to the FFA Vessel Register be provided through periodic communication between FFA and the Secretariat.
- 129. The EU queried whether the large increase in quarantined data for vessels reporting their positions to the WCPFC VMS in 2013 was due to the Flick the Switch agreement or some other factor, and requested clarification on the definition of quarantined data.
- 130. The WCPFC VMS Manager explained that the increase was in part due to the Flick the Switch agreement but also due to an increase in the number of vessels reporting to the system outside the Flick the Switch areas. Quarantined data are comprised of reports from areas not covered by the Commission's VMS which are thus not

- authorized for viewing. It was clarified that Flick the Switch data are not quarantined.
- 131. FFA members noted that when boarding patrols encounter vessels with malfunctioning MTUs there is currently no means of verifying whether these vessels are manually reporting as required. Therefore it was recommended that the Secretariat maintain a list of manually reporting vessels on the Commission's secure website. In addition, FFA members requested that the Secretariat prepare overlays of VMS and manual reporting positions for comparison and discussion at WCPFC10 and encouraged the Secretariat to continue to pursue integration of the manual reports with the VMS. Noting that the manual reporting requirements agreed at WCPFC9 expire on 1 March 2014, these CCMs expressed a desire to see these requirements extended for another year.
- 132. The Executive Director explained that the Secretariat plans to have procedures for automated handling of the manual reports in place shortly. It was noted that this is one aspect of the WCPFC9 Flick the Switch decision that is still to be implemented.
- 133. One CCM requested clarification on whether the VTAFs are managed in coordination with the WCPFC Record of Fishing Vessels (RFV), in particular whether a vessel's VTAF is deleted or quarantined if it is removed from the RFV.
- 134. The WCPFC VMS Manager explained that when a vessel is removed from the RFV, it is de-activated on the VMS.
- 135. In response to queries from CCMs, the WCPFC VMS Manager confirmed that VTAFs may be provided directly to the Commission from vessel operators, and that the VTAF itself need not be submitted as long as all the information required by the VTAF is provided.
- 136. TCC9 agreed to recommend to WCPFC10 that the requirements for manual reporting agreed at WCPFC9 be extended for another year, i.e. from 1 March 2014 to 1 March 2015.
- 137. TCC9 agreed to recommend to WCPFC10 that vessels which can be confirmed to be in good standing on the FFA Vessel Register shall be exempted from the requirements to submit the information contained in a VTAF for the Commission's VMS.
 - (b) Review list of approved ALC/MTUs maintained by Secretariat (SSP Section 2.7)
- 138. Noting the current list of CCMs' type approved ALC/MTUs shown in Annex 4 of WCPFC-TCC9-2013/RP-01, the TCC Chair invited TCC9 to provide comments on this issue.
- 139. Some CCMs, including FFA members, considered that there is not enough information available on the vessels, frequencies and types of ALC/MTUs reporting to the Commission through the VMS and through manual reporting to determine which units may be non-compliant. These CCMs requested the

Secretariat provide more information on this topic prior to WCPFC10 to inform further discussion of the Type Approved MTU/ALC list.

(c) Draft Guidelines for VMS Reporting Requirements

- 140. Some CCMs expressed their appreciation to the Secretariat for preparing the draft guidelines for VMS Reporting Requirements (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/IP-09) considering that it is useful as a concise summary of requirements.
- 141. The EU requested that further detail be provided in the guidelines regarding VMS reporting requirements outside of the Convention Area.
- 142. Referring to the draft guidelines, one CCM noted that the requirement for purse seine vessels to report at ½ hour intervals applies generally throughout the area of applicability of the Commission's VMS, not only in EEZs Because the Commission has not established a standard or minimum position reporting rate, the inclusion in the draft guidelines of the Commission's "default" rates is very useful, as it helps VMS users interpret the VMS data. For that reason it is important that CCMs be informed any time that the default rates are changed and any time that the actual rates deviate from the default rates.
- 143. One CCM suggested that the definition of vessels required to report to the Commission's VMS be more precisely specified as "fishing vessels which fish for highly migratory species on the high seas".
- 144. The Secretariat explained that the guidelines have been coordinated with one distant water fishing CCM and with the FFA. Further consultation with and input from other CCMs is welcomed.

8.2 Regional Observer Programme

(a) Annual Report of the ROP

- 145. The Secretariat, led by Mr Karl Staisch, ROP Coordinator, presented the Annual Report of the ROP (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/RP-02) noting that this paper contains four recommendations developed by the Secretariat for TCC9's consideration; another nineteen (19) recommendations developed by the ROP-Technical Advisory Group (ROP-TAG) are contained in WCPFC-TCC9-2013/14 (discussed below). Issues covered in the presentation included:
 - i. Continuing the ROP audits on a rolling and cost-effective basis;
 - ii. Noting that release methods involving tail hauling may be harmful to whale sharks;
 - iii. Adding information describing the mesh size used in FAD construction to Minimum Standard Data Fields to be collected by observers;
 - iv. Compiling observer coverage for purse seine, longline and transhipment vessels;

- v. Noting the need for a greater number of cross-endorsed (WCPFC-IATTC) observers; and
- vi. Summarizing an indicative number of incidents witnessed by observers in 2012 based on GEN-3 Observer Trip Monitoring Summaries.
- 146. One CCM expressed its strong support for continued training of cross-endorsed observers to increase the pool of certified observers able to perform observer duties in both the WCPFC and IATTC on a single trip.
- 147. TCC9 considered a proposed schedule in the ROP Annual Report for continuing the ROP audits in order to ensure WCPFC minimum standards are being maintained by ROP authorised programmes.
- 148. The Secretariat noted there are no budget implications above what had already been allocated on an annual basis for auditing.
- 149. TCC9 agreed to recommend to WCPFC10 that the ROP audits continue over the next five years in accordance with Table 1 in WCPFC-TCC9-2013/RP-02.
- 150. TCC9 considered a proposal that all ROP data be sent to the Secretariat or SPC in a timely manner, e.g. no longer than 90 days, after the trip.
- 151. FFA members recognized that there have been significant improvements in ROP data management and submission rates in 2010-2011 due to better debriefing and use of scanners. While remaining committed to improving the timeliness of submissions, FFA members stated that providing data within 90 days may not be feasible given the dispersed nature of the fishery and the potential need to vet the data before submission.
- 152. Some CCMs suggested that untimely submission diminishes the value of observer data and therefore it is important to provide a specific timeliness target. Nevertheless, some flexibility should be provided, for example, in the case of backto-back trips. The requirement could thus be to provide the data within 90 days of the observer disembarking the vessel. Also, the guideline could be specified as "within X days where possible", or "no later than X days".
- 153. One CCM indicated that its electronic system will allow it to submit observer data well within the target timeframe.
- 154. FFA, speaking as a ROP observer provider, confirmed that the average time for ROP data submission is 93 days, therefore setting a timeframe that can't be complied with is not helpful.
- 155. The Secretariat clarified that timeliness in ROP data submission is an issue for many CCMs, not only SIDS.
- 156. Some CCMs suggested that the timeframe be extended to 100 days.
- 157. Some CCMs considered that a longer timeframe (e.g. an additional 20 days) should be specified for longline ROP data due to the more extensive debriefing and species identification work required.

- 158. One CCM noted that the lack of a clear definition of an observer trip could complicate interpretation of this guideline.
- 159. The Cook Islands informed TCC9 that it intends to establish an observer field office in Pago Pago (American Samoa) by mid-2014 and debriefing to be conducted there should serve to expedite submission of ROP data.
- 160. TCC9 agreed to recommend to WCPFC10 that ROP data should be submitted to the Secretariat or SPC where possible within 100 days of the observer disembarking purse seine vessels and within 120 days of the observer disembarking longline vessels.
- 161. TCC9 then considered the issue of submission of purse seine observer placement information to the Secretariat.
- 162. FFA members stated that as it is a flag State responsibility to secure observer coverage, it should be the responsibility of the flag State to report observer placement information to the Secretariat. These CCMs further noted that with the development of electronic/cloud-based information management systems it is becoming increasingly easy to automatically share information between authorized users, i.e. administrators participating in the Commission's ROP.
- 163. Some CCMs expressed concerns that as flag States they do not receive timely responses from the observer providers and thus it may be difficult for them to shoulder the full responsibility of reporting observer placement information to the Secretariat.
- 164. Some CCMs advised that both the flag State and the observer providers should report placement information to the Secretariat. This type of joint approach was considered necessary to ensure the flow of information between the flag States and the observer providers as well as useful in allowing for cross-checking.
- 165. One CCM supported joint reporting by flag States and observer providers, but could also accept reporting by the flag State only, if necessary.
- 166. One CCM suggested that the reporting be encouraged on a voluntary basis.
- 167. Some CCMs considered that a monthly reporting frequency would be too onerous and suggested that this be extended to quarterly.
- 168. In response to a query, the Secretariat confirmed that reporting on a quarterly basis would be acceptable and useful.
- 169. One CCM requested that the requirement stated that observer placement information be provided "as soon as possible and in all cases no later than three months".
- 170. TCC9 could not reach agreement on requirements for reporting of observer placement information on purse seine vessels.
- 171. TCC9 considered issues associated with transhipment vessel movement and observer coverage notifications.

- 172. Some CCMs expressed support for the recommendation in para 19.4 of WCPFC-TCC9-2013/RP-02 which requires fish carriers and transhipment observer to report various information to the Secretariat when certain activities occur (see WCPFC-TCC9-2013/RP-02, paras 10.9 and 10.10).
- 173. One CCM questioned whether it is workable to create a requirement for carrier vessels to report on entry/exit from the Convention Area and departure from port directly to the Secretariat. It was considered that the vessel's presence in the Convention Area is notified by the switching on of the VMS, and its intention to tranship is notified by its request for a transhipment observer.
- 174. The Secretariat clarified that the existing VMS and observer systems function for those vessels which intend to tranship, notify the Commission of their intention to do so, and agree to be tracked/observed. However, it is difficult to monitor compliance in situations where it is not clear whether or not a vessel is transhipping and there is no VMS reporting and/or observer onboard. Notification by either the carrier itself or by the flag State of the intention of the carrier could solve this problem.
- 175. In response to a question, the Secretariat further clarified that the proposed notification requirements are intended to apply to both in port and at sea transhipments.
- 176. TCC9 could not reach consensus on the need for notification requirements for fish carrier vessels and transhipment observers.
- 177. TCC9 agreed to continue discussions on the need for notification requirements for fish carrier vessels and transhipment observers at TCC10.

(b) ROP-TAG

- 178. Mr Ludwig Kumoru, PNG, assisted by the WCPFC ROP Coordinator, presented the report of the ROP-TAG (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/14) on behalf of the ROP-TAG Chair, Mr Philip Lens.
- 179. The first recommendation of the ROP-TAG is that the Commission develop and implement observer credentials, such as identification cards with the WCPFC logo and a unique regional number managed by the Secretariat.
- 180. FFA members expressed support for the recommendations but considered that the credentials should be developed with the hybrid nature of the ROP in mind, consider minimum information requirements, and be compatible with other existing or planned identification cards.
- 181. Some CCMs supported the idea of observer credentials but suggested that guidelines for such credentials be prepared as a first step.
- 182. TCC9 recommended that the WCPFC10 task the Secretariat with developing guidelines for observer credentials.

- 183. Regarding the issue of mechanisms to prevent and stop misconduct of observers, FFA members welcomed the development of minimum standards and suggested a focus on best practices for management and administration of observer programmes.
- 184. TCC9 recommended that the WCPFC10 task the WCPFC Secretariat with developing and circulating prior to TCC10 a paper on a Minimum Standard in relation to mechanisms on how to prevent and stop misconduct of observers. Comments should be provided and the paper adjusted and then presented for discussion and endorsement at TCC10.
- 185. ROP-TAG recommendations concerning development of notification mechanisms for fish carriers to notify the Secretariat of their transhipment intentions and streamlining of data transmissions were discussed under Agenda Items 8(2)(a).
- 186. Regarding the ROP-TAGs recommendations on accommodation and onboard facilitation of female observers, FFA member expressed their concerns about continuing reports of inadequate conditions provided to observers. These CCMs called for better negotiation of observer accommodation and treatment standards between flag States and observer providers, and for these standards to be reflected in license conditions.
- 187. One CCM suggested that some flexibility is necessary in the requirement that "female observers on a purse seine vessel with an all-male crew must be accommodated in a single person cabin", and thus "must" should be replaced with "should".
- 188. Some CCMs noted that CMM 2007-01 provides guidelines on the rights and responsibilities of observers and states that "access to food, accommodations, medical facilities, and sanitary facilities of a reasonable standard equivalent to those normally available to an officer on board the vessel". Therefore, ROP-TAG recommendations that exceed standards normally available to an officer on board the vessel are not supported.
- 189. The Executive Director noted that the standard from CMM 2007-01 is drawn directly from Annex III Article 3 and Article 28of the WCPF Convention text and that the ROP-TAG recommendation might, depending on circumstances, result in either a higher or lower standard than that required by the Convention and CMM 2007-01.
- 190. The WCPFC ROP Coordinator informed TCC9 that due to the potential for mistreatment of observers this issue is of great concern to many of the ROP observer coordinators and should be given careful attention.
- 191. TCC9 did not reach consensus on the issue of accommodation and onboard facilitation of female observers.
- 192. On the issue of communication by observers prior to arriving in foreign and/or home ports, some CCMs considered this would be better left as a guideline rather than a binding element of the ROP.

- 193. In relation to this issue the EU queried whether there are any guidelines existing or necessary for the number of consecutive trips that can be made by an observer on the same vessel.
- 194. The WCPFC ROP Coordinator responded that these guidelines are set by the observer providers and usually limit consecutive trips to two, with three consecutive trips allowed only under extenuating circumstances.
- 195. TCC9 discussed the ROP-TAG's recommendation regarding observer providers supplying the Commission with updated lists of certified and active observers.
- 196. The EU considered that the authorization of the observer should be linked with the issuance of observer credentials, and asked that this issue be included in the discussion of the observer credential guidelines to be developed by the Secretariat.
- 197. Japan noted that it reserved the right to comment on this issue at WCPFC10.
- 198. TCC9 agreed to recommend to WCPFC10 that all observer programmes authorised to be part of the ROP will send to the Commission Secretariat as soon as practical the names of those individuals who have been trained and qualified to operate as an observer in the ROP.
- 199. TCC9 agreed to recommend to WCPFC10 that all observer programmes authorised to be part of the ROP must inform the Commission Secretariat of the status of their active observer list at least every 3 months, e.g. February, May, August, November, February, etc.
- 200. TCC9 agreed to recommend to WCPFC10 that observers removed from an active observer list of a national programme for serious breaches of their Code of Conduct or for other reasons, must be informed to the Commission Secretariat as soon as practical, when the observer is deactivated.
- 201. In response to the ROP-TAG recommendation that a consultant be contracted to examine operational mechanisms to decrease incidents of corruption, some CCMs considered that a consultancy is unnecessary. These CCMs suggested that flag States and observer providers should be the ones to examine the issues as they have first-hand knowledge of the problems and access to the data. It was suggested this issue be tabled for discussion at TCC10.
- 202. One CCM asked that the issue of observer insurance cover also be examined.
- 203. FFA members stated that dealing with corruption issues is important to avoid negative public perceptions regarding the observer programmes and suggested that flag States and observer providers should discuss these issues.
- 204. TCC9 agreed that responses from members about how to best deal with corruption issues, such as those involving blackmail, bribery and extortion, should be tabled for discussion at TCC10.
- 205. TCC9 considered the ROP-TAG's final recommendation involving development of handbooks for observers containing updated summaries of all relevant CMMs.

- 206. TCC9 recommended that WCPFC10 task the Secretariat with preparing a "Handbook of WCPFC Conservation Management Measures" (CMMs) relevant to onboard fisheries observers and updating it on an annual basis.
- 207. TCC9 thanked the ROP-TAG Chair and participants for their work. TCC9 recommended to WCPFC10 to dissolve the ROP-TAG. TCC9 recommended that the Commission reconstitute the IWG-ROP to address issues that have arisen with respect to the implementation of the ROP.

(c) E-monitoring and E-reporting Applications

- 208. Mr Steve Dunn, IC Independent Consulting, presented a report on the preliminary findings of a consultancy on E-monitoring and E-reporting (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/15 and Attachment D) The working definitions developed for this project focus on the open and closed nature of the two technologies. Reporting is considered an open or "white box" system with manual data collection and transmission, and includes catch logs, observer logs, transhipment logs, dockside monitoring, and event reporting – both portside and near-real time. E-Monitoring is considered a closed or "black box" system with automated data collection and transmission, and includes VMS, video, sensor, AIS and FAD tracking. Stakeholder consultation has been conducted with national authorities, regional and international agencies, industries, and technology providers. During these discussions a range of issues and concerns have been raised including the perception of a reduction in local employment opportunities (e.g. observers and data entry staff), loss of control of data and/or process, use of E-Monitoring data for unintended purposes, and privacy. The question of human capacity was a common issue, as well as questions of program cost, communication costs, program logistics, integration with existing systems, and the fact that a range of national and regional programs are already well advanced. Preliminary conclusions are that: i) proven technologies are available to support the development and implementation of both e-monitoring and e-reporting in the region; ii) proof of concept trials are not necessary but trials to develop awareness, familiarity and confidence should be encouraged; iii) need to define program, what, why, when and where; develop policy and legislation; standards and specifications; and type approvals iv) intellectual property, ownership, privacy and logistic issues need to be resolved; v) e-monitoring has the capability to help the Commission meet and exceed its observer coverage requirements; vi) there is unlikely to be a negative impact on employment opportunities for Pacific Island countries in adopting e-monitoring and e-reporting.
- 209. FFA members thanked the consultant and the Secretariat for the study. While remaining concerned about costs, these CCMs supported further work in the six areas identified as critical next steps in the interim report (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/15). Integration with existing systems such as the IMS, strengthening capacity and authority at the national level, and cost recovery should also be given careful consideration.
- 210. Solomon Islands described e-logbook trials currently underway on five vessels with good results. The new systems are being welcomed by captains, and improve the

- efficiency of industry and government data management through electronic access to information.
- 211. The Philippines informed TCC of that it has implemented e-logbooks based on the SPC logsheet formats and is current building capacity to use the system.
- 212. Chinese Taipei supported further studies of electronic systems by the Commission. It described its positive experience with e-monitoring systems on its own vessels noting that these systems can substitute for observer coverage.
- 213. Papua New Guinea confirmed that there should be no employment displacement with the implementation of electronic systems since data entry personnel can be retrained as data quality assurance staff. It has already implemented e-monitoring systems on its vessels and this has been well-received by industry.
- 214. ACAP voiced support for e-monitoring systems stating that these systems can help to meet the high observer coverage levels required for statistical power in detecting rare bycatch events such as seabirds. In addition, increased monitoring will assist in expanding implementation of agreed mitigation measures.
- 215. The EU offered to provide the consultant with information about its e-monitoring and e-reporting systems.
- 216. The Executive Director noted that the Secretariat has requested funding from AusAid to examine the effects of the implementation of electronic systems on employment patterns, and that notification of funding is expected shortly.
- 217. The TCC Chair invited other CCMs to discuss issues with, or provide input to, the consultant directly.

(d) ROP Coverage/ROP Data Monitoring

- 218. The TCC Chair invited TCC9 to consider proposals for guidelines to be used to evaluate whether the requirements of ROP observer coverage have been met. These proposal are contained in papers prepared by the Secretariat and SPC (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/09 and WCPFC-TCC9-2013/RP-02).
- 219. Some CCMs considered that their fisheries might be better classified differently from what is specified in Table 1 of WCPFC-TCC9-2013/09 and agreed to provide their alternative suggestions to the Secretariat.
- 220. Some CCMs suggested that tables of required coverage should allow for CCMs to specify units of coverage such as trips rather than days-at-sea.
- 221. FFA members stated that the footnotes to Table 1 may need to be revised to conform to existing and yet to be agreed definitions within the ROP. With regard to which party has responsibility for reporting of trip-level data to the Commission, FFA members reiterated their view that this responsibility lies with the flag State as it is the party responsible to ensuring observer coverage.
- 222. One CCM considered that observer coverage requirements would not apply to its WCPO fleet as a whole because some of these vessels are fishing solely in national

- waters. Furthermore, for those vessels fishing outside national waters, there are both vessels which fish solely in the national waters of a coastal State and those which fish both in EEZ and high seas areas. This CCM noted that the effort required to calculate the required observer coverage under these various scenarios could be onerous.
- 223. The Executive Director suggested that the five recommendations given in para. 15 of WCPFC-TCC9-2013/09 (including amendments to Table 1) be discussed in a small working group with a view to tabling a revised proposal at WCPFC10. After further discussions it was determined that more consultation would be required on Table 1, the second recommendation was considered under Agenda Item 8.2(a), and the third, fourth and fifth recommendations are being discussed in the CMR process. TCC9 was invited to consider options for continuing work on the issues contained in Table 1.
- 224. TCC9 agreed that consultations between the Secretariat, SPC and CCMs on Table 1 and associated issues should continue intersessionally.
- 225. TCC9 recommended that WCPFC10, if necessary based on progress between TCC9 and WCPFC10, refer issues associated with observer coverage targets for longline fleets to the IWG-ROP.
- 226. ACAP requested to participate in an IWG-ROP if established.

8.3 High Seas Boarding and Inspection (HSBI)

- 227. The TCC Chair noted that this item includes the annual report of the Executive Director (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/RP-03) and a discussion of para. 24 of CMM 2006-08 concerning provision of a "copy of the text of the relevant measures in force" when conducting HSBI activities.
- 228. The Executive Director presented a summary of reports received from CCMs conducting HSBI activities in 2012-2013 (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/RP-03). In 2012, 55 HSBI reports were received from 3 CCMs which identified thirteen vessels with serious violations. Responses for eight vessels (62%) have been received. Thus far in 2013, 54 HSBI reports have been received from 7 CCMs identifying 15 vessels with serious violations. Responses for thirteen vessels have been received (87%), and thus the response rate has improved for 2013.
- 229. The EU noted two compliance issues highlighted by the report: the lack of responses of CCM flag States to violations identified in HSBIs of their vessels (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/RP-03, para. 8) and discrepancies between the number of HSBIs conducted and the number of reports submitted in accordance with CMM 2006-08, para. 40 (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/RP-03, Annex 2).
- 230. Several CCMs stated that they had updated information on HSBI activities conducted or on their responses to identified violations to provide to the Secretariat.
- 231. Some CCMs which had been the subject of HSBI activities in the past year stated that improper procedures had been followed in some cases. Specific instances cited

- include a failure to advise of boarding procedures and activities which damaged the quality of the catch and put the safety of the vessel at risk. These CCMs reminded TCC9 that all HSBI activities must comply with para. 23 of CMM 2006-08.
- 232. One CCM which had conducted one of these HSBI activities noted that procedures had been examined and improved subsequent to the incidents mentioned.
- 233. Another CCM which had conducted one of these HSBI activities considered that it is necessary to find the appropriate balance between the responsibility to inspect gear and catch and the obligation to take reasonable care not to impact the quality of the catch and the safety of the vessel.
- 234. One CCM conducting HSBI activities in 2012 stated that incidents of underreporting of albacore and shark catches, inadequate vessel marking, and lack of required sea turtle mitigation gear were observed. It was also noted that non-target bony fish bycatch such as mahi mahi and wahoo are often consumed by the crew, either onboard or subsequent to the trip, without being recorded as catch. This observed non-reporting, in combination with generally poor recordkeeping practices such as a failure to use SPC or other standard logsheets, calls into question the accuracy of catch and effort reporting.
- 235. FFA members urged all CCMs to submit HSBI reports to the Secretariat in a timely manner. Those CCMs flagging vessels which have been identified as a having violations were encouraged to impose appropriate penalties. FFA members also stressed the importance of ensuring accurate catch reporting.
- 236. TCC9 recommended that responses to serious violations, the number of HSBI reports submitted against the number of HSBIs conducted, and the timeliness within which HSBI reports are submitted should be included as elements in the CMR.
- 237. The EU suggested that the "Handbook of WCPFC Conservation Management Measures" agreed to be prepared by the Secretariat under Agenda Item 8.2(b) could be used to satisfy the requirements of CMM 2006-08, para. 24 for a "copy of the text of the relevant measures in force". This CCM also suggested that the Commission agree deadlines for submission reports of HSBI activities.
- 238. FFA members noted that this issue was originally raised by New Zealand but it has been solved by including a digital copy (CD Rom or DVD) of the WCPFC CMMs as a standard component of their HSBI kit. While these CCMs welcomed the suggestion that the Secretariat might assist with providing this material, they did not support the other options presented in WCPFC-TCC9-2013/RP-03.

8.4 Record of Fishing Vessels (RFV)

- 239. The Executive Director drew TCC9's attention to the annual report on the WCPFC Record of Fishing Vessels (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/RP-04).
- 240. The United States presented WCPFC-TCC9-2013/DP-02 (rev1) containing draft Standards, Specifications and Procedures (SSPs) for the WCPFC RFV. An explanatory note details the history, objectives, outstanding issues and comments

received on a July 2013 draft. The issue of how the RFV SSPs would specify the information required for chartered vessels was explained to differ between non-CCM flagged chartered carriers and bunkers, for which the host or chartering state is responsible for maintaining on its national record, and CCM-flagged chartered fishing vessels, for which the flag State is responsible for maintaining on its national record.

- 241. FFA members stated that they supported the objective of making the Commission's RFV more accurate and cost-effective. In this spirit, these CCMs suggested picking up two existing RFV data fields as minimum data requirements (start and end period of validity of authorization), and dropping two fields from the list of minimum data requirements (moulded depth and when the vessel was built). These fields would remain part of the RFV but are not critical for MCS purposes and therefore need not be part of the minimum data requirements.
- 242. FFA members also considered that greater standardization of entries for the fields of name of the fishing vessel, registration number and international radio call sign (IRCS) should be required to support easier identification of vessels. This could include requiring the information to be entered with no punctuation, no spaces and all in upper case.
- 243. One CCM expressed concern regarding the requirement to provide vessel photographs no older than five years given the size of its fleet and the fact that many of its vessels return to port infrequently. This CCM suggested that older photographs, e.g. up to six years old, should be allowed.
- 244. The United States suggesed that, as a compromise, the vessel photograph currency requirement could be set at 6 years.
- 245. FFA members noted that the FFA Vessel Register requires vessel photographs taken within five years and supported the Commission adopting a consistent requirement.
- 246. Some CCMs questioned the need to allow 48 hours for the Secretariat to place vessels whose data meet to the minimum data requirements on the RFV. It was noted that the WCPFC direct entry portal should lend itself to more prompt updating of WCPFC RFV records.
- 247. The Compliance Manager confirmed that the Secretariats review of the proposed minimum timeframes for publishing CCMs modifications in proposal DP-02 (rev1), had been viewed from the point of view of the most technical complex mechanism for the Secretariat to receive updates (ie the receipt of MS Excel/ MS access updates including entering of new vessels information). However, the Secretariat could consider within 24 hours of an official WCPFC working day for publishing of updates to the CCMs RFV entries if they were only updates to current CCMs national list of vessels provided to WCPFC through the current WCPFC RFV direct entry portal.
- 248. FFA members requested that electronic submissions for the RFV, for example via direct linkages to existing databases, be accommodated.

- 249. The Compliance Manager confirmed that WCPFC was currently awaiting input from the FFA Secretariat on the electronic format for receiving appropriate updates from FFA/SPC hosted databases. Once received, the WCPFC has indicated to the United States a willingness to review the electronic format specifications it has provided in DP-02 (rev1), with a view to either accommodating this as a third mechanism or a modified version of the MS Excel/MS Access mechanism for CCMs to advise of updates to their national list of authorised vessels, within the RFV SSPs proposal.
- 250. FFA members considered that the SSPs need not provide for listing of non-CCM flagged chartered carriers and bunkers on the WCPFC RFV since the interim register of non-CCM carriers and bunkers has already expired.
- 251. The WCPFC Legal Advisor explained that although the interim register of carriers and bunkers flagged to non-CCMs has expired, para. 41 of CMM 2009-01 allows non-CCM carriers and bunkers to operate in the WCPFC Convention Area as chartered vessels if they are considered an integral part of the fishery of a CCM. In such cases the chartering State takes on all responsibilities for listing the vessel on the RFV, and could be considered the "host State" for the RFV. The Commission may however wish to denote this special situation by creating another field or category in the RFV.
- 252. The United States agreed to revise the RFV SSP proposal to add two and subtract two minimum data requirements, standardize the three naming and number fields, revise the timeframe for uploading fully compliant vessel record submissions onto the RFV within 24 hours, and to allow for other comments arising from further consultation.
- 253. TCC9 agreed that the United States would continue to consult on the RFV SSPs proposal intersessionally, in particular to resolve the outstanding issue regarding the currency requirement for vessel photographs, with a view to tabling a revised proposal at WCPFC10.

8.5 High Seas Transhipment Reporting

- 254. The Executive Director presented the annual report on WCPFC high seas transhipment reporting (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/RP-05) noting that some of the issues have been dealt with under other agenda items.
- 255. The Compliance Manager highlighted that the quantity of catch reported as being transhipped on the high seas ranges as high as 25% for bigeye tuna. It was noted that the paper would be updated subsequent to TCC9 to reflect new information from the CMR process and any subsequent updates to WCPFC records.
- 256. FFA members encouraged the updating of this paper for WCPFC10 to support further discussions. The Secretariat was asked to carefully consider why reported transhipments seem to cluster in the high seas areas north of the Cook Islands and Kiribati and not in the high seas pockets.
- 257. The Executive Director presented draft guidelines for the determination of circumstances where it is impracticable for vessels to tranship in port or in waters

under national jurisdiction as required by para. 37 of CMM 2009-06 (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/17). It was noted that the Commission's intention regarding whether high seas transhipment should be phased out or allowed to continue remains unclear, and this complicates the development of these guidelines. TCC9 was invited to consider whether allowing transhipment from vessels other than purse seines is in the best interest of the Commission; consider the draft guidelines; and consider whether to prohibit transhipment in the high seas pockets.

- 258. FFA members stated that all high seas transhipments should be monitored by observers on both the receiving and offloading vessel and all notification procedures specified in CMM 2009-06, para. 35 must be met. However, FFA members considered that ideally all transhipments should take place in EEZs or ports in order to facilitate development of SIDS port services and comply with Article 30 of the Convention.
- 259. FFA members noted that unreported high seas transhipments have the potential to obscure our understanding of the fishery, particularly in cases where the vessels involved do not carry observers and do not submit operational level catch and effort data. Transhipment reporting and monitoring is supported because it can reinforce other monitoring systems and improve fishery statistics, but it was noted that it is easiest to monitor transhipments made in port.
- 260. The EU expressed support for banning transhipment at sea, but agreed that if high seas transhipment is allowed it should only be conducted under strict monitoring and control, including full observer coverage on both vessels, in order to avoid facilitating IUU fishing.
- 261. Some CCMs considered the proposal that both receiving and offloading vessels involved in high seas transhipment carry observers to be excessive and unnecessary.
- 262. Some CCMs considered that the requirement to provide annual reports documenting significant economic hardship is unreasonable.
- 263. One CCMs stated that port surcharges for transhipment in port have become burdensome.
- 264. The United States drew a distinction between the guidelines for impracticability, which the ED was tasked with drafting, and the issue of whether, and under what conditions, high seas transhipments should be allowed. The United States noted that gathering economic data to support a finding of impracticality is difficult. For that reason, and because the main objective of the transshipment CMM is to deter IUU fishing, the United States had proposed that the guidelines be based not on economic considerations, but on whether the flag CCM has fully implemented the notice, reporting and observer reuqirements to ensure that the transhipments are adequately monitored (see page 20 of WCPFC-TCC9-2013-17)
- 265. The Executive Director noted that over the next year the Secretariat's oversight of transhipment activities will be enhanced via an integration of VMS, ROP and other datasets and will be capable of providing much closer scrutiny.

- 266. TCC9 noted that the CMS process has identified specific issues that will assist CCMs to fully implement CMM 2009-06.
- 267. TCC9 recommended that the Commission task the Secretariat to provide a report at TCC10 with specific details of transhipment activity in 2013/2014, including through using the VMS tool described by the Executive Director. To the extent possible, available ROP observer data will be included in this analysis.
- 268. TCC10 agreed to revisit the MCS implications of high seas transhipment pending that report, and the outcomes of the CMS process on this CMM at TCC10.

8.6 Purse Seine Catch Discard Monitoring

- 269. The Executive Director presented a summary of purse seine catch discard reporting received by WCPFC under CMM 2009-02 (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/IP-06). TCC9's attention was drawn to a significant increase in reported purse seine discards received by the Secretariat in 2013.
- 270. FFA members stated that the requirement to report purse seine discards in CMM 2009-02 only applies to the high seas, not to EEZs. These CCMs suggested that the increasing trend in discarding in the EEZs is a reflection of large increases in the reporting of discards by some fleets but in fact discard rates have remained constant. In order to understand the real situation with regard to discards the Secretariat was encouraged to focus on identifying a consistent time series of high seas discard data from reports received pursuant to CMM 2009-02 and to cross-check these data against observer data.
- 271. Some CCMs queried whether the catch retention and catch discard reporting requirements in CMM 2009-02 apply only to the high seas.
- 272. The EU noted that it had recently adopted a policy which prohibits discarding without exception.
- 273. A representative of FFA clarified that catch retention and catch discard reporting requirements for the EEZs of PNA countries have been implemented under the PNA's Third Implementing Arrangement and that CMM 2009-02 extends a compatible measure to the high seas.
- 274. TCC9 noted the Secretariat's paper and the clarification of the scope of CMM 2009-02.

8.7 Eastern High Seas Pocket Special Management Area

- 275. Ms 'Ana Taholo, the Assistant Compliance Manager presented the Secretariat's annual report on the Eastern High Seas Pocket (EHSP) Special Management Area (SMA) including a review of CMM 2010-02 establishing the SMA (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/RP-07).
- 276. FFA members noted that the report confirms the results of previous analyses and indicates that there are severe deficiencies in implementation of the CMM. This

failure of flag States to exercise control over activities of vessels in the EHSP leads to a disproportionate burden on coastal States under Article 30 of the Convention. This has led the Pacific Island Forum Leaders communique to call for a full closure of the EHSP and thus FFA calls for such a closure to be recommended to WCPFC10.

- 277. French Polynesia confirmed their support for a full closure of the EHSP on the basis of continuing non-compliance with CMM 2010-02 and the fact that more than half of the vessels inspected there were found to be in violation.
- 278. Some CCMs resisted the proposal for a full closure on the grounds that the area is an important fishing ground and that they have made good faith efforts to comply with CMM 2010-02 including imposing serious penalties on vessels found to be in violation. These CCMs stated that legitimate use of a high seas area should be allowed to continue. Some CCMs also argued that closing the high seas pockets did not provide any conservation benefit.
- 279. The Secretariat stated that the annual report (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/RP-07) would be revised to incorporate new information provided at TCC9 including points arising from the CMR.
- 280. Several CCMs stated strong support for closure of the EHSP.
- 281. Some CCMs considered that if the EHSP was not closed, steps should be taken to strengthen CMM 2010-02 and stated their intention to table a proposal with that aim at WCPFC10.

8.8 Administration of the Data Rules and Procedures

- 282. The Executive Director presented the annual report on the administration of the WCPFC's data access rules and procedures (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/RP-06) noting that a recent audit found no breaches of data confidentiality. The only unusual data request involved the tracking of a vessel at the request of a CCM out of concern for the safety of life at sea.
- 283. In response to a query, the Secretariat explained that because some EEZ boundaries are disputed, there are many different baseline mapping coordinate sets available and no one set can be provided for official use by the Secretariat. CCMs were referred to the Pacific Islands Applied Geoscience Commission (SOPAC) for further information.
- 284. FFA members requested that because China, Chinese Taipei, Japan and Korea have failed to provide operational catch and effort data for two consecutive years, these CCMs should be prohibited from accessing WCPFC non-public domain data under para. 28 of the WCPFC Rules and Procedures for the Protection, Access to, and Dissemination of Data Compiled by the Commission.
- 285. Japan, referring to the rules of Section 3 of "Scientific Data to be provided to the Commission", stated that not providing operational catch and effort data itself does not constitute non-compliance as long as aggregated catch and effort data had been provided under this Section.

- 286. FFA members further noted that CCMs which only provide access to their operational level catch and effort data onsite in their own national laboratories increase the Commission's scientific services costs, limit use of the data, and do not satisfy the Commission's data provision requirements.
- 287. Some CCMs questioned the basis for this proposal.
- 288. The WCPFC Legal Advisor advised that the WCPFC Data Rules derive from the Convention and are clearly binding. The rules provide a mechanism for restricting access to non-public domain data if compliance with the rules is not achieved.
- 289. Japan reiterated that compliance with the rules of Section 3 of "Scientific Data to be provided to the Commission" was achieved because aggregated catch and effort data had been provided under this Section.
- 290. One CCM suggested that it and other CCMs which are not currently providing operational level catch and effort data could consider constructive suggestions for remedying the situation. This CCM indicated that these CCMs may present some of their ideas for consideration at WCPFC10.
- 291. FFA members, referring to discussions under agenda item 8.3, reiterated their call for a requirement that all CCMs complete daily logsheets.
- 292. Most CCMs agreed that TCC should recommend that the Commission consider adopting a requirement "for all vessels on the WCPFC Record of Fishing Vessels, operating within the WCPFC Convention Area, to complete daily logsheets" This requirement could be added to the Commission's rules on Scientific Data to be Provided to the Commission or other appropriate measure.

AGENDA ITEM 9 —DATA PROVISION AND DATA GAPS

9.1 Impact of gaps in CCMs data submission on Commissions compliance functions (final CMR 2012)

- 293. Mr Peter Williams (SPC) provided a presentation on recent data provision, outstanding data gaps and recommendations for data improvements (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/IP-07 and WCPFC-TCC9-2013/IP-12). All CCMs have now provided catch estimates for 2012. Shark species catch estimates are improving but there is still some further work to do.
- 294. Most 2012 catch and effort data are available in aggregated form, but some data remain provisional. While 2012 operational level data are mostly complete for the purse seine fleet they are not complete for the longline fleet. Gaps in operational level data are particularly notable for distant water fleets from China, Japan, Korea and Chinese Taipei. Some recent progress has been made in accessing these data for scientific purposes including:
 - i. Korea has offered to work collaboratively with SPC on analysis of operational level data at SPC offices, and SPC looks forward to confirming these arrangements and initiating this work shortly;

- ii. The Philippines recently authorized release of its operational level data to WCPFC;
- iii. Japan and Chinese Taipei offer access to their operational data for scientific purposes on site in their national laboratories but this approach has substantial time and cost implications and is far from satisfactory.

Catch and effort data for key shark species continues to improve; remaining gaps are being addressed through a transition to new expanded logsheets, species identification guides, new reporting procedures and education of skippers.

- 295. SC9 discussions highlighted a number of data-related issues and SPC provided some further information on these issues:
 - i. Annual catch estimates for EEZ and high seas areas. SPC noted that due to the lack of operational level data for some of the major fleets it is not possible to accurately estimate catches by EEZ and high seas areas. Therefore CCMs were urged to separate their catch estimates by EEZ and high seas areas when submitting.
 - ii. Number of vessels represented in aggregate data. This information has not been provided by China, Japan and Korea. One potential solution raised at SC9 could be for CCMs to advise WCPFC that they do not require their aggregate data to be filtered before inclusion in the WCPFC database.
 - iii. Operational level data. As previously noted there are important gaps in the operational level data which have major implications for catch and effort estimates, double counting in catch attribution, and trend identification and modelling (due to lack of fine scale detail). While some opportunities for analysis are being offered by countries holding but not submitting the operational level data, more access is required. It was noted that no plans for how impairments to data provision can be resolved have been submitted.
- 296. SPC summarized the most critical data gap issues to be addressed as: provision of operational level catch and effort data by EEZ and high seas areas; provision of the number of vessels represented in aggregate data; operational data improvement plans; improved catch and discard estimates for key shark species; and increased observer coverage for fleets which do not submit operational data.
- 297. FFA members stressed the importance of all CCMs providing all required data, in particular operational level catch and effort data. It was noted that the lack of such data affects the verification of VMS and transhipment data, evaluation of the effectiveness of CMMs, catch attribution issues, assessment of EEZ versus high seas conservation burdens, and the quantity and quality of public domain data. FFA members considered that the failure to provide operational level data is the most serious compliance failure within the Commission and urged TCC9 to take these considerations into account during the CMR process.
- 298. Some CCMs stated that while they are not providing operational level data they are nevertheless in compliance with the Commission's data rules and are cooperating as much as possible to make the data available for scientific purposes.

- 299. Some CCMs which have not yet provided catch estimates partitioned into EEZ and high seas areas stated that these data will be provided as soon as possible.
- 300. Some CCMs welcomed this commitment from the CCMs which are not currently providing operational level data and urged them to provide their data improvement plans as well.
- 301. Some CCMs emphasized that uncertainties in the BET stock assessments arising from a lack of operational data may be driving conservation and management measures which place a disproportionate burden on SIDS. It was suggested that a failure to submit required data could trigger punitive reductions in fishing effort for individual CCMs as provided for under CMM 2008-01, para. 41.
- 302. One CCM supported the FFA comments and also noted that while the SPC presentation focused on the scientific purposes of the required data, there are many other reasons why these data need to be provided to the Commission. This CCM also noted that the lack of operational data submission has continued for a long period of time and should be remedied as a matter of priority.
- 303. Some CCMs further stressed the unacceptability of a continuing failure of some CCMs to provide operational level data. These CCMs noted that those CCMs which provide access to SPC only on-site in their national laboratories create technical, logistical and cost burdens on the Commission which are unworkable in the long term.
- 304. FFA members stated that the failure to provide operational level data represents a serious shortcoming in the transparency of the work of the Commission. It was suggested that the Commission should block access to non-public domain data for those CCMs which do not comply with the data provision requirements. Another option would be to increase observer coverage, for example to 20% on longline vessels in tropical waters, for those fleets which do not provide operational level data. This approach would assist in improving estimates in key shark species' catches and discards. The implications of the lack of operational data were identified as including:
 - i. high seas VMS data cannot be verified against operational data;
 - ii. transhipment reporting cannot be verified;
 - iii. the volumes of catch reported as transhipped cannot be reconciled with reported catches;
 - iv. the quality of information for measuring the effectiveness of different mitigation methods on specific non-target species is greatly reduced;
 - v. the WCPFC can't provide a complete set of catch and effort data for the public domain;
 - vi. many aspects of the effectiveness of measures cannot be assessed, especially where there are spatial elements;
 - vii. the effects of targeting shifts on catches and catch rates cannot be determined, reducing understanding of the effectiveness of measures,

- creating exactly the kind of uncertainty seen when evaluating the effectiveness of the bigeye catch limits for bigeye;
- viii. some charter vessel catch attribution issues can't be resolved; and
- ix. the inability to distinguish between impacts in EEZs and high seas risks transferring greater burdens to SIDS.
- 305. Most CCMs recommended that paragraph 28 of the 2007 data rules be implemented to prohibit access to all non-public domain data held by the Commission to those CCMs that have not been providing operational-level data until such time as they provide operational level data to the Commission.

9.2 Purse Seine Catch Composition Data Improvement (FFA Request para 18 of TCC8 report)

- 306. The TCC Chair explained that this agenda item arises from a request at TCC8 that the Secretariat consider proposals for improving reporting of purse seine catch by species, including the possibility of placing two observers on vessels that systematically misreport their catches, identifying fleets which are systematically misreporting, and providing estimates of purse seine catch composition by species by fleet. This work is associated with WCPFC Project 60, which includes a plan to improve purse seine species composition catch estimates.
- 307. SPC noted that, as advised at SC9, it will be undertaking some work on this topic in the coming year including collaboration with Japan on comparing observer species composition data with their unloading/port sampling data; review of port sampling data collected in Papua New Guinea with observer data; and undertaking comparisons between port sampling, observer and cannery data in the Solomon Islands. There are no WCPFC budget implications for 2014 activities and a report on these activities will be provided at SC10.
- 308. FFA members stated that mis-reporting of species composition is a serious issue which significantly affects the understanding of stock status. However, recent improvements in some fleets are recognized. While the scientific aspects of the issue are being studied, compliance issues remain to be addressed. A stepwise approach was suggested involving i) improving vessel operators' awareness of the need for accurate reporting, and then ii) having TCC develop a plan to more formally promote better reporting practices. It was suggested that opportunities for cost recovery for any mechanisms necessary to improve data for specific fleets be investigated.
- 309. PNA members supported the update of the plan to improve purse seine catch composition, and the need for capacity building of vessel operators that will enable fleets to report accurately.
- 310. One CCM queried whether the revised plan will be provided for SC or TCC review. This CCM also requested clarification on how SPC will determine which information is correct when data sets from different sources such as observers or port samplers show different results.

311. SPC clarified that these issues are being addressed in two studies that are already underway and will be reported on at SC10 in 2014.

9.3 Recommendations/suggestions from SC

312. There was no discussion under this agenda item.

AGENDA ITEM 10 — INTERSESSIONAL ACTIVITIES AND TASKS FROM TCC8 AND WCPFC9

10.1 Report from the CDS-IWG Chair (as per WCPFC9-approved TOR)

313. The TCC Chair noted that since the CDS-IWG will be holding its first meeting immediately after TCC9, there is not yet any progress to report to TCC9 from this IWG.

10.2 Port Coordinator Proposal

- 314. The Executive Director presented a proposal to establish port coordinators in main transhipment and unloading ports in the Convention Area (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/16). The proposal provides a description of the port coordinator programme in the IATTC and describes how the programme could be adapted for use in the WCPFC. It was noted that there are thirteen ports where transhipments occur and six of these (Pohnpei, Majuro, Rabaul, Honiara, Tawara and Pago Pago) comprise the majority of transhipment activities. Locating port coordinators in major off-loading ports outside the Convention Area such as General Santos, Bangkok and Bitung could also provide useful information. An indicative annual cost of USD 380,000 has been estimated.
- 315. FFA members considered that building capacity in the existing national port sampling programmes should take priority over creating new port coordinator positions within the Secretariat. Nevertheless, FFA members encouraged the Secretariat to continue to work towards establishing port coordinators in major off-loading ports outside of the Convention Area.

10.3 Guidelines for handling and safe release of Whale Sharks (CMM 2012-03) (WCPFC9 para 363)

- 316. The TCC Chair reminded TCC9 that there are currently no adopted guidelines for the handling and safe release of whale sharks, but that draft guidelines were progressed at SC9 and have been referred to TCC for further consideration (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/IP-11).
- 317. One CCM supported the recommendations of the informal working group on this topic at SC9. This CCM emphasized the importance of establishing a scientific basis for the handling and safe releases guidelines, in particular through tagging studies to determine post-release mortality in released sharks. When conducting

- such studies the issue of tag attachment and retention is likely to be a key consideration.
- 318. PNA members noted that the required procedures when a whale shark is encountered in a purse seine net in PNA waters is for the net roll to be immediately stopped and the whale shark released. It was suggested that these measures be applied on an interim basis across the Convention Area to both minimize impacts to whale sharks and to promote consistency between EEZs and the high seas.

AGENDA ITEM 11 — REVIEW OF EXISTING CMMs AND RESOLUTIONS

11.1 South Pacific Albacore (CMM 2010-05)

- 319. The TCC Chair explained that an updated paper on the South Pacific albacore fishery was requested for TCC9's consideration by WCPFC9 (WCPFC-TCC9-2013-IP/08) and updated information reported to the Secretariat was included in WCPFC-TCC9-2013-IP03_rev1. TCC9 was invited to consider providing advice which could be considered by those CCMs developing a proposal for this stock.
- 320. FFA members thanked SPC for the paper and remarked that since half of the high seas catch of this species is transhipped on the high seas it is likely that catches are being underestimated. A recent price slump was attributed to oversupply. It was explained that a draft CMM will be tabled at WCPFC10 which will contain hard catch limits for EEZs (to be set by coastal States) and the high seas, including coordination with IATTC. MCS measures will be strengthened including minimum observer coverage, transhipment monitoring, VMS, and EHSP SMA requirements, and catch and effort data provision.
- 321. FFA members also emphasized the need for both biological and economic maximization of the resources, including maximum economic yield reference points. While expressing a strong preference for the implementation of rights-based management FFA members indicated that it was not necessarily their intention to displace distant water fishing vessels from the fishery. These CCMs welcomed cooperative arrangements between developing coastal States and distant water fishing nations for mutually beneficial participation in the fishery.
- 322. French Polynesia reminded TCC9 that the steady increase of catch and growing fishing pressure on the stock threatened vital food security resources. French Polynesia is ready to take action to protect the fishery in its EEZ and advocates compatible measures for the high seas.
- 323. The United States stated that it shares concerns about the dramatically rising catches. It also noted that conserving and managing the South Pacific albacore stock is important for the American Samoa longline fishery and the U.S. troll fisheries which depend on it.
- 324. New Caledonia also considered it necessary to improve management measures to ensure the viability of their fisheries which are entirely dependent on the South Pacific albacore stock.

- 325. Australia stated as albacore comprises 16% of the catch of its fleet and is highly valued conservation of the stock is a priority.
- 326. The Cook Islands emphasized that 80% of its tuna catch is comprised of albacore therefore the 24% expansion of the fishery in 2011 is of great concern. In order to avoid overfishing it plans to limit catches in its EEZ and call for compatible catch limits to be set by the Commission for the high seas.
- 327. Niue stated that it plans to nominate catch limits on South Pacific albacore within its EEZ at WCPFC10.
- 328. One CCM queried why the catch quantities in the paper (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/RP-06) differed from those in the latest stock assessment.
- 329. SPC replied that the catch quantities differed because the paper only included catches from the WCPF Convention Area whereas the stock assessment covered the entire range of the stock, i.e. including parts of the IATTC Convention Area.
- 330. Some CCMs questioned whether it is the role of the Commission to consider economic conditions, particularly as such data are limited and prices may rise or fall based on supplies from other stocks or consumer demand.
- 331. Some CCM called for the stock to be managed as whole, including those portions within the IATTC and north of 20°S.
- 332. Some CCMs called for uncertainty in the stock assessment to be reflected in decisive and precautionary management measures.
- 333. One CCM asked that SPC paper be prepared every year for consideration by SC, TCC and the Commission.
- 334. TCC9 recommended that a paper on South Pacific albacore prepared by SPC be updated for WCPFC10 and provided as a standing item for consideration by SC, TCC and the Commission each year.

11.2 South Pacific Swordfish (CMM 2009-03)

- 335. The TCC Chair explained that the 2013 TCC Workplan includes a review of the South Pacific swordfish measure (CMM 2009-03) and invited TCC to comment on this item. Available information on Reporting by CCMs to WCPFC is provided in WCPFC-TCC9-2013-IP03_rev1.
- 336. FFA members called for no further increase in fishing mortality on South Pacific swordfish on the basis of a significant increase in catch of this species north of 20°S. Given its importance to domestic fleets in the region, FFA members urged the Commission to manage the stock across its range considering both target and bycatch components of the catch. Specific information on catches was requested of the Scientific Services Provider (SPC) for consideration by SC10, but it was acknowledged that the ability to provide this information would be hampered by the lack of operational level catch and effort, and hooks between floats, data for several of the key longline fleets fishing in the area.

- 337. Some CCMs stated that much of the required operational and hooks between floats data have been provided, and those data which have not been provided can be estimated.
- 338. In response to a request to confirm these statements, SPC noted that some data were provided but that it would be useful to receive additional data to better inform the analysis.
- 339. Some CCMs questioned the scientific basis for a recommendation of no further increase in fishing mortality on South Pacific swordfish and whether there is a sufficient technical and compliance basis for TCC to make a recommendation in this regard.
- 340. Some CCMs noted that SC9 recommended that there be no increase in fishing mortality over current (2007-2010) levels (SC9 Summary Report, para. 52).
- 341. The TCC Chair explained that TCC9 can comment on, supplement or support SC9's recommendation.
- 342. SPC clarified that a number of scenarios were modelled *inter alia* incorporating uncertainty arising from various estimates of the growth curve. Mid-range scenarios showed the stock not overfished and overfishing not occurring but due to the uncertainty a precautionary approach was recommended.
- 343. TCC9 concurred with the advice of SC9 that there be no increase in fishing mortality over current (2007-2010) levels for South Pacific swordfish.
- 344. TCC9 recommended that the Commission task the Scientific Services Provider to provide advice to SC10 on:
 - (i) the proportion of catches that are taken north of 20 degrees south, as targeted catch or bycatch;
 - (ii) the distribution of catches between EEZs and high seas;
 - (iii) the distribution of catches by areas of 10 degree bands between the equator and the southern boundary of the Convention Area to see whether these bycatches are in the tropical BET fishery, or the albacore fishery; and
 - (iv) mitigation measures that will help to reduce target and bycatch catches to address and avoid overfishing.

11.3 Paragraph 10 of Seabirds CMM (CMM 2012-07)

345. The TCC Chair noted that TCC8 agreed to recommend that CCMs report to TCC9 on any practical or technical constraints facing their small vessels with respect to the use of seabird mitigation methods in the North Pacific (north of 23° N), as well as descriptions of any mitigation methods that could be used by such vessels (para 387, TCC8 Summary Report).

- 346. The United States pointed out that CMM 2012-07 (paragraph 10) calls for TCC9 to evaluate the constraints and opportunities for small vessels to employ seabird mitigation measures in the North Pacific, and for WCPFC10 to consider appropriate seabird mitigation requirements for vessels less than 24m in length in the North Pacific. In response to the TCC8 recommendation and in support of TCC9's evaluation, the United States presented WCPFC-TCC9-2013/DP-05 which details its reporting to the Commission on this issue. In summary, the United States requires seabird mitigation measures for its entire longline fleet north of 23 N regardless of size, including vessels as small as 14m in length, and does not face any practical or technical constraints to seabird mitigation. The United States noted that SC evaluated the implications of the small vessel exemption and found that i) there is a high overlap between the distributions of fishing vessels and some albatross species and ii) ~60% of the longline vessels in the North Pacific are smaller than 24m in length and are thus currently exempted from the requirements for seabird mitigation.
- 347. Some CCMs suggested that TCC consider whether the small vessel exemption should be cancelled or reformulated.
- 348. One CCM questioned the scientific basis for the suggestion, noting that SC9 recommended that seabird bycatch rates for vessels less than 24m and equal to or greater than 24m fishing with longline gear need to be investigated.
- 349. ACAP noted that the ACAP Seabird Bycatch Working Group recently reviewed all research pertinent to this CMM and found no constraints to effective implementation on small vessels. ACAP therefore recommended that the exemption be removed. It was further suggested that this precautionary approach was warranted due to the overlap of the fishery with albatross habitat and the fact that longline observer coverage was well below the level needed for statistically robust detection of seabird interaction rates.
- 350. Some CCMs queried whether TCC first needed to respond to the request for a review of constraints and then allow SC to undertake the further investigations which may be relevant to whether the exemption should remain in place.
- 351. Some CCMs maintained that TCC was free to consider both issues.
- 352. New Zealand stated that a combination of two mitigation measures, including tori lines, line weighting or night setting are used on large and small longliners. In our experience smaller vessels can safely and effectively use tori lines as well as line weighting and therefore there is no basis for the North Pacific small vessel exemption.
- 353. Australia stated that its seabird mitigation measures have been highly effective over a variety of vessel sizes and it too supported removal of the exemption.
- 354. Japan and Chinese Taipei, which flag the two other fleets operating in the exemption area, stated they would present their reports on any practical and technical constraints to seabird mitigation at TCC10.

11.4 Sharks (CMM 2010-07)

- 355. The TCC Chair noted that the TCC Work Plan for 2013 calls for review of non-target species CMMs and specifically mentions sharks.
- 356. FFA members acknowledged the shark CMM (CMM 2010-07) compliance standards are unenforceable due to the lack of definitions associated with the finsto-carcass ratio of 5% and thus it has limited effectiveness. Therefore, FFA members plan to propose additional conservation and management measures for sharks at WCPFC10. The proposal will consider fishing mortality reductions for all sharks (rather than species-specific approaches), and mitigation measures involving banning shark lines, shark baits and wire trace.
- 357. FFA members also urged that shark issues be given a high priority at WCPFC10 with a view toward adopting measures that will reduce fishing mortality in both longline and purse seine fisheries.
- 358. The United States stated that it has grown increasingly concerned with the enforcement issues associated with the WCPFC shark measure as the US experience with its own shark fin regulations has grown and it has as consequence moved to a fins attached policy. Furthermore, regulating finning does not appear to have been enough to prevent severe declines in some species such as oceanic whitetip, silky and North Pacific blue shark. A consultant's report (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/IP-10), presented to and supported by SC9, advocates a broader view based on reducing fishing mortality and rather than mandating specific mitigation measures. It also provides a review of the efficacy of the existing measure.
- 359. EU supported strengthening of the measure and suggested incorporating a fins attached policy as the 5% fins-to-carcass ratio has not proved effective.
- 360. Some CCMs stated that shark conservation and management measures should be adopted species-by-species with a clear scientific basis, therefore they could not support a ban on use of wire leaders. Some CCMs also indicated that they could not support a fins attached policy because it is not operationally feasible and furthermore it does not contribute directly to the conservation of sharks. It was also noted that there needs to be recognition that the market for shark fins and shark meat is different.
- 361. TCC9 recommended that work on a revised shark CMM continue intersessionally with a view to developing a proposal for discussion at WCPFC10.

AGENDA ITEM 12 — PROPOSALS FOR NEW CMMs

12.1 FADs Proposal (USA)

362. The United States presented a proposal for a draft CMM for the collection and analyses of data on fish aggregating devices (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/DP-01) noting

that it had tabled a previous draft at WCPFC9 (WCPFC9-2012-DP15). The new proposal has been informed by discussions with IATTC and industry operators. The main purpose is to begin to collection basic information about FAD in order to better support management measures such as the tropical tunas CMM. The proposal specifies minimum data to be collected using both operators and observers. One key element is FAD identification; this is straightforward in the case of FADs which are marked with electronic buoys but will require some thought for FAD which are not. Data collection for non-entangling FADs is expected to help with research aiming at more eco-friendly FAD designs. Although most of the required data under the draft CMM is already collected by the operators, it is recognized that reporting of these data will constitute an additional burden. E-reporting may help in this regard.

- 363. FFA members thanked the United States for the proposal but noted four major issues:
 - i. FAD Data Collection some data is better reported by the operator than the observer, perhaps through e-reporting, and duplication with observer data collection should be avoided. Some of this data collection can be handled through amending the data rules rather than including it in a CMM.
 - ii. FAD Identification it is important to avoid duplication with the tropical tuna CMM on issues such as marking and identification, e-monitoring, and FAD limits.
 - iii. Non-entangling FADs the basis for the design is unclear and it should be discussed by the SC
 - iv. Processing of FAD data observer data relevant to the implementation of the FAD closure should be prioritized for processing over FAD data.
- 364. PNA members also noted they are working with the Pew Charitable Trust on electronic identification and tracking of FADs which looks promising as a means to provide scientific information, monitor FAD use and possibly lead to management of FAD numbers.
- 365. The EU supported the proposal and considered that even if some of the data were duplicated those could serve as useful cross-checks. Inclusion of the FAD identification components of the draft measure was considered useful as a package. The design specifications for non-entangling FADs were supported as a valid starting point.
- 366. Japan considered that it would be most appropriate for observers to collect the data on FADs.
- 367. In response to a query the United States clarified that the proposal was intended to apply to all FADs regardless of whether they are man-made or natural.
- 368. TCC9 recommended that the United States continue to consult intersessionally, in order to develop a proposal for a new draft CMM on FAD data collection and analysis.

12.2 Unique Vessel Identifier (UVI) Proposal (USA)

- 369. The United States presented a proposal on WCPFC implementation of a unique vessel identifier (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/DP-03). This issue has been periodically considered by WCPFC since 2009 and this proposal focuses on how to begin acquiring the UVIs for WCPFC vessels. Under the US Proposal, the first step would be to require that vessel which are on, or should be on, the WCPFC RFV and are at least 100 GT or 100 GRT with steel hulls obtain an IMO number, which can be obtained free of charge. The IMO numbers of vessels that have them would have to be included in national vessel records and the WCPFC RFV. Although smaller vessels currently are not eligible for IMO numbers, this may be changing. It was suggested that the Secretariat should liaise with IHS-Fairplay to determine whether it can facilitate IMO number issuance for smaller fishing vessels.
- 370. China explained that approximately 25 China-flagged fishing vessels have recently obtained IMO numbers through a website interface. While this is positive, China would first like to verify the usefulness of the IMO number for tracking purposes, and then gradually increase the number of its vessels with IMO numbers.
- 371. Japan considered that a grace period would be necessary as currently fishing vessels are exempt from the requirement to have IMO numbers and are thus unlikely to have already obtained them.
- 372. Korea stated that it believes a UVI is a useful tool for combatting IUU fishing.
- 373. FFA members supported the proposal but suggested that the priority for obtaining IMO numbers be placed on those vessels at least 100 GT in size which are either i) vessels fishing solely on the high seas; ii) vessels fishing within waters of another coastal State; and iii) vessels fishing in the waters of more than one tuna RFMO. It was also suggested that the requirement that the vessel be steel hulled be removed.
- 374. The EU supported the proposal but suggested strengthening the language to remove exemptions. Further comments will be provided to the United States.
- 375. TCC9 requested that the United States continue consultation on the proposal intersessionally, with consideration to limiting the scope of vessels obtaining a UVI to those which fish i) solely on the high seas, ii) within waters under the jurisdiction of another coastal State, or iii) in multiple RFMOs. Options for deferred implementation and including vessels which are not steel hulled should also be considered. If feasible, a draft proposal should be discussed at WCPFC10.

AGENDA ITEM 13 — OTHER MATTERS REQUIRING TCC ADVICE

13.1 Development of metrics for measuring fishing effort and capacity (TCC Workplan 2013)

- 376. The TCC Chair introduced this topic by reminding TCC9 that this item is a component of the TCC Work Plan for 2013.
- 377. Mr Peter Williams (SPC) presented a brief review of the historical practices of reporting effort in purse seine fisheries (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/18). SPC has always used the logbook definition of purse seine effort, i.e. "a day when a set was made, or a day when a set was not made, but any part of that day was spent searching for fish"; this is consistent with the PNA Vessel Day Scheme definition of management unit ('day'). Preliminary analysis suggests that effort previously reported as "searching for fish" is now being reported as "transit". This change has important ramifications for the consistency of the purse seine effort and catch per unit effort historical time series, and creates discrepancies between effort reported on logsheets and effort calculated from VMS data. Most importantly for management purposes, recent effort levels will appear to be lower than they actually are. TCC9 was invited to consider advising CCM flag States to resolve this reporting issue by adopting a clear and consistent definition of "a day in transit".
- 378. The United States noted that WCPFC-TCC9-2013/DP-10 describes its proposal for effort management associated with the tropical tuna CMM discussed in Agenda Item 6.
- 379. FFA members stated that under-reporting of effort has serious implications for the work of the Commission and needs to be remedied immediately. These members supported the definition proposed by SPC and recommended that it be included in the document describing Scientific Data to be Provided to the Commission. These members also suggested that observer data be used in conjunction with logsheets to determine the actual level of purse seine effort.
- 380. FFA members reminded TCC9 that the Commission has already adopted the FAO definition of capacity which is based on the amount of catch or effort that a fleet can produce. They stated that discussions of capacity under the new Tropical Tuna CMM will require additional consideration of vessel size and fishing power.
- 381. PNA members, while noting that the PNA already has defined what constitutes "a fishing day", supported the definition proposed by SPC of "a day in transit".
- 382. The United States stated that it is committed to using the definitions agreed under the Palau Arrangement but emphasized the need for consistency between the SPC and PNA definitions of "a fishing day".
- 383. Some CCMs agreed with the need for a precise definition of "a fishing day".

- 384. One CCM suggested that SPC's definition of "a fishing day" might need to be better aligned with the definition of "fishing" in Article 1-d of the Convention.
- 385. The EU supported SPC's proposed definition and agreed that standardized and harmonized definitions are essential.
- 386. Some CCMs considered that the SPC definition of "a day in transit" should remove the reference to "fully loaded" from part ii "transiting back to port fully loaded".
- 387. TCC9 agreed to recommend to the Commission that it include the following annotations to the definition of purse seine effort to be reported on logbooks and the requirements in the "Scientific Data to be Provided to the Commission" which are consistent with the PNA VDS System and observer reporting:
 - "The current definition for a purse seine day in transit ('a day in transit') should only cover the following cases:
 - i. Transiting from port to the tropical WCPFC area ($10^{\circ}N-10^{\circ}S$);
 - ii. Transiting back to port; and
 - iii. Transiting with the gear stowed, that is the boom lowered and tied down, and the net covered." **

footnote **Subject to any further clarification.

388. The United States asked the Secretariat and the Scientific Services Provider to undertake a comparison of "fishing days" estimated using the definitions applied by PNA and SPC, for example using a test logsheet database producing side-by-side calculations under each definition.

13.2 Management Objectives

- 389. A. Beeching, Assistant Science Manager, presented WCPFC-TCC9-2013/19 on the report of the expert working group on management objectives, performance indicators and reference points which was also presented to SC9. It was noted that the focus for the next workshop, which will be held in conjunction with WCPFC10 will be to examine selected candidate fisheries (the tropical longline fishery, the purse seine fishery, the southern longline fishery, the Pacific Bluefin tuna fishery, and the northern albacore fishery) and consider new stock status communication tools and strategies such as alternative Kobe plots. Further input and feedback from TCC9 was welcomed.
- 390. FFA members confirmed their support for the approach outlined in the paper toward the development of reference points as they believe it appropriately reflects the special requirements and aspirations of SIDS. These CCMs also supported the selection of the purse seine and southern longline fisheries as candidate fisheries and recommended more work on multi-species, maximum economic yield-based target reference points.

391. TCC9 noted the report of the expert working group on management objectives, performance indicators and reference points and agreed to provide any additional comments to the WCPFC Assistant Science Manager by 11 October 2013.

AGENDA ITEM 14 — REVIEW TCC-RELATED RECOMMENDATIONS ON PERFORMANCE REVIEW OF WCPFC

- 392. The Executive Director presented a summary matrix of the recommendations of the Independent Performance Review of the WCPFC which are pertinent to the TCC (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/20).
- 393. FFA members noted that decisions on how to handle the number and variety of recommendations arising from the performance review are complicated by the undisciplined nature of the review report but thanked the Executive Director for the matrix. These CCMs considered that nearly all of the high priority items are already on the TCC9 agenda; the only outstanding item is a process for consideration and adoption of CMMs to ensure that they are legally sound and consistent with other measures (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/20, item 3.4.7). This process should include a link to Article 30 of the Convention to ensure that issues such as special requirements and transfers of disproportionate burdens to SIDS are given proper consideration.
- 394. TCC9 requested that the Executive Director prepare a paper for WCPFC10 proposing a way forward on establishing a process for ensuring that existing and new CMMs are technically sound from a legal point of view and consistent with other CMMs, and highlighting any other items from the Independent Performance Review that require further consideration by TCC.

AGENDA ITEM 15 — TCC BUDGET AND WORKPLAN

15.1 Update report on WCPFC Secretariat IMS developments 2013/14

- 395. The TCC9 Chair noted that the Secretariat's report on IMS developments for 2013-2014 is available at WCPFC-TCC9-2013/21.
- 396. FFA members appreciated the work on the Secretariat on the IMS, noted that it has already resulted in improved efficiency and better compliance through enabling cross-verification. These CCMs recommended that continued development of the IMS be given a high priority and appropriate funding in future work plans and budgets.
- 397. TCC9 noted the Secretariat's update report on progress with development of the IMS.

15.2 Report on WCPFC Security Audit 2012/2013

- **398.** The Executive Director presented noted that under Agenda Item 8.8 it was reported that the annual security audit found no breaches of confidentiality.
- 399. TCC9 noted the Secretariat's report on the WCPFC Security Audit for 2012-2013.

15.3 Proposed TCC Work Plan and Budget for 2014-2017

- 400. The TCC9 invited CCMs to comment on the proposed TCC Work Plan and Budget for 2014-2017 (WCPFC-TCC9-2013/22).
- 401. FFA members considered that the Work Plan and Budget presents a good reflection of TCC priorities which in their view include a standing paper on the South Pacific albacore fishery, national capacity development to respond to the CMR, electronic data entry for the ROP, and continued development of the IMS. A small budget (~\$10,000) was requested for improvement of purse seine catch composition data, in case a consultant was needed to undertake the analysis. The review of CMMs recommended by the Independent Performance Review (Agenda Item 14) was recommended to be added to the Work Plan.
- 402. FFA members further suggested that the Secretariat post all papers carried forward from previous meetings and not reliant on CCM annual reports by 1 June, and include specific recommendations in papers whenever possible.
- 403. TCC9 agreed to add \$10,000 to the budget for 2014 to cover the costs of a consultancy to support improvement of purse seine catch composition data, and to apply the indicative budget for 2015 as a proposed budget for 2016. With these changes the TCC Work Plan and Budget for 2014-2016 was recommended for approval to WCPFC10.

AGENDA ITEM 16 — OTHER MATTERS

404. Japan presented a brief report on the Japan Trust Fund and thanked CCMs for comments of appreciation for the programme. Japan noted that the JTF is administered by the WCPFC Secretariat and is focused on monitoring, control and surveillance implementation in SIDS. The programme is intended to continue assuming funding continues to be provided by the Japan Ministry of Finance. As the JTF funding cycles are tight, SIDS were encouraged to begin conceptualization and project design well in advance of programme deadlines.

AGENDA ITEM 17 — ELECTION OF OFFICERS

- 405. TCC9 agreed to recommend to WCPFC10 that Ms Rhea Moss-Christian continue as Chair of the TCC for another term.
- 406. Ms Moss-Christian's outstanding performance at TCC8 and TCC9 was noted by several CCMs.

AGENDA ITEM 18 — NEXT MEETING

407. TCC9 agreed to recommend to WCPFC10 that TCC10 be held in Pohnpei, FSM on 25-30 September 2014.

AGENDA ITEM 19 — ADOPTION OF REPORT OF TCC9

- 408. TCC9 adopted the recommendations of the TCC9 Summary Report. A complete version of the report will be circulated subsequent to the meeting and comments on discussion text were **requested from CCMs by 31 October 2013**.
- 409. The TCC9 Chair noted that the CMR process for 2012 will continue with any CCM that wishes to provide additional information, or to request further review of its compliance information, to communicate with the Secretariat prior to 30 days in advance of WCPFC10. The Secretariat will collate and provide updated information relevant to these CCMs Provisional CMR assessment scores as "additional advice or information" relating to the provisional CMR. This information is expected to be provided for all CCMs to access through the secure section of the WCPFC website, and in advance of WCPFC10. A small working group at WCPFC10 will review any updated assessments and finalize the provisional CMR for WCPFC10's consideration.

AGENDA ITEM 20 — CLOSE OF MEETING

- 410. The TCC Chair thanked the Secretariat for their efforts in preparing the meeting documents, drafting the CMRs, and supporting the working groups. Appreciation was also expressed to the small working group which prepared the provisional CMR, particularly the TCC Vice Chair and the WCPFC Assistant Compliance Manager. RMI was acknowledged for their fine efforts in leading the small working group on CNM applications. The TCC Chair also thanked the rapporteur, Dr. Shelley Clarke, for documenting the proceedings, and expressed her gratitude to all of the participants for their patience and support during the meeting.
- 411. TCC9 was closed at 2:45pm on 1 October 2013.



The Commission for the Conservation and Management of Highly Migratory Fish Stocks in the Western and Central Pacific Ocean

Technical and Compliance Committee Ninth Regular Session

26 September - 1 October 2013 Pohnpei, Federated States of Micronesia

ATTACHMENTS

Attachment A. List of Participants

Attachment B. Agenda for Ninth Regular Meeting of the Technical and Compliance

Committee

Attachment C. WCPFC IUU list

Attachment D. E-reporting and E-monitoring table

ATTACHMENT A – LIST OF PARTICIPANTS



Technical and Compliance Committee Ninth Regular Session (TCC9) Pohnpei, Federated States of Micronesia September 26 – October 1 2013

CHAIRMAN

Rhea Moss-Christian

Chief of Compliance
National Oceanic Resource Management
Authority
PO Box PS 122
Palikir, FM 96941
Federated States of Micronesia
Ph: 691-320-2700
rhea.moss@gmail.com

AUSTRALIA

Claire van der Geest

Assistant Director
Department of Agriculture
GPO Box 858
Canberra, ACT 2602
claire.vandergeest@daff.gov.au

Jim Neely

Manager, Foreign Compliance Policy Australia Fisheries Management Authority Level 6, 73 Northbourne Ave, Canberra ACT 2600 +61 6225 5555

jim.neely@afma.gov.au

CHINA

Liu Xiaobing

Director, Division of International Cooperation, Bureau of Fisheries, Ministry of Agriculture No. 11 NongZhanGuan Nanli, Chaoyang District Beijing 100125, China 86-10-59192928 xiaobing.liu@hotmail.com

Yu Peimin

Principle Staff Member, Division of International Cooperation, Bureau of Fisheries, Ministry of Agriculture, No. 11 NongZhanGuan Nanli, Chaoyang District Beijing 100125, China 86-10-59192964 peimin81@163.com

Zhao Gang

Deputy Secretary General China Overseas Fisheries Association admin1@tuna.org.cn

COOK ISLANDS

Joshua Mitchell

Director, Offshore Fisheries Division Ministry of Marine Resources <u>j.mitchell@mmr.gov.ck</u>

EUROPEAN UNION

Angela Martini

International Relations Officer
Directorate-General for Maritime Affairs and
Fisheries, European Commission
J-99 03, 260, B-1049, Brussels
Ph: +32 2 299 42 53
angela.martini@ec.europa.eu

Anne Fort

Internation Relations Officer European Commission Directorate-General for Maritime Affairs and Fisheries Unit B1: International Affairs, Law of the Sea, Regional Fisheries Management Organisations, J99/03/42

+32 2 2958978 anne.fort@ec.europa.eu

Jon Lansley

European Commission Directorate-General for Maritime Affairs and Fisheries Unit B3, Control in International Waters J7A 021203
Jon.lansley@ec.europa.eu

Juan Ignacio De Leiva Moreno

Fisheries Attache Victoria Parade – EU Delegation Pacific +679 331 3633 juan-ignacio.de-leiva-moreno@eeas.europa.eu

FEDERATED STATES OF MICRONESIA

Patrick Mackenzie

Executive Director P.O. Box PS122, Palikir, Pohnpei FM 96941 320-2700; 320-5181 patrick.mackenzie@norma.fm

Eugene Pangelinan

Deputy Director, National Oceanic Resource Management Authority P.O. Box PS122, Palikir, Pohnpei FM 96941 (691) 320-2700 eugene.pangelinan@norma.fm

Liman Helgenberger

Chief, Management & Development Pohnpei, FSM 691-320-2700 liman.h@norma.fm

Naiten Bradlev Phillip Jr.

Chief of Research bradley.phillip@norma.fm

Justino Helgen

VDS/VMS Compliance Manager P.O Box PS 122 320-2700 justino.helgen@norma.fm

Alfred Lebehn Jr

IT & Statistics Manager NORMA P.O. Box PS122 691-320-2700/5181 alfred.lebehnj@norma.fm

Pole Atanraoi-Reim

Assistant Attorney General FSM Department of Justice 320 2644 par.fsm@gmail.com

Josephine Joseph

Assistant Attorney General Department of Justice 320-2608/2644 Jpj.fsm@gmail.com

Baron Mendiola

Lt./Executive Officer
Department of Justice
320-2384
Baronmendiola06@yahoo.com

Peter Sitan

President/CEO, National Fisheries Corporation P.O. Box 1903, Kolonia, Pohnpei FM 96941 (691) 320-2529 psitan@mail.fm

Nicholson Solomon

CEO/President
Pohnpei Shipping Co. Inc.
Deketik Nett, Pohnpei FM. 96941
Ph: 320-8011
nis@mail.fm

Carmen Kigimnang

Diving Seagull, Inc. Colonia, Yap 96943 691-350-4796 car@mail.fm

Charles Falmeyog

Diving Seagull, Inc. Colonia, Yap 96943 691-350-4796 car@mail.fm

Clement Mulalap

Diving Seagull, Inc. Colonia, Yap 96943 691-350-4796 car@mail.fm

Falownug Kenmed

Diving Seagull, Inc. Colonia, Yap 96943 691-350-4796 car@mail.fm

John Fathal

Diving Seagull, Inc. Colonia, Yap 96943 691-350-4796 car@mail.fm

John Waayan

Diving Seagull, Inc. Colonia, Yap 96943 691-350-4796 car@mail.fm

Leelkan Dabchuren

Diving Seagull, Inc. Colonia, Yap 96943 691-350-4796 car@mail.fm

Vincent Tafileluw

Diving Seagull, Inc. Colonia, Yap 96943 691-350-4796 car@mail.fm

Kazutoshi Otsuka

Director, Taiyo Micronesia Corp. Kolonia, Pohnpei 923-9604 ka-ootsuka@maruha-nichiro.co.jp

Marko Kamber

Manager cfc@cfctuna.com

Perdus T. Ehsa Jr.

O/M /Port Pilot (OCC) P.O. Box 692 Kolonia, Pohnpei 96941 320-8895 jrehsa@ymail.com

FIJI

Anare K. Raiwalui

Principal Fisheries Officer (Offshore Fisheries) Fisheries Department, Takayawa Towers, Toorak, Suva, Fiji +679 3301611, +679 9711939 raiwalui.anare@icloud.com

Jone Amoe

Senior Fisheries Officer (Offshore Division) Takayawa Tower, Toorak Rd, Toorak, Suva (679) 3301011 fishfinderfj@gmail.com

JAPAN

Takashi Koya

Chief Fisheries Coordinator Fisheries Agency Government of Japan 1-2-1, Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo, Japan 81-3-3502-8459 takashi_koya@nm.maff.go.jp

Yujiro Akatsuka

Assistant Director Fisheries Agency Government of JAPAN 1-2-1, Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo, Japan 81-3-3502-8459 yuujirou_akatsuka@nm.maff.go.jp

Takahiro Fujiwara

Fisheries Agency Government of JAPAN 1-2-1, Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo, Japan 81-3-3502-8459 takahiro_fujiwara@nm.maff.go.jp

Mako Iioka

Fisheries Agency Government of Japan 1-2-1, Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, Japan 81-3-3502-8459 mako_iioka@nm.maff.go.jp

Keisuke Satoh

National Research Institute of Far Seas Fisheries 5-7-1, Orido, Shimizu-ku, Shizuoka kstu21@fra.affrc.go.jp

Akihiko Yatsuzuka

Manager National Offshore Tuna Fisheries Association of Japan Tohan No.3 BLDG, 1-3-1, Uchikanda Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 81-3-3295-3721 zenkinjp@kinkatsukyo.or.jp

Kikuo Chivo

Manager International Division Japan Tuna Fisheries Co-operative Association 31-1, Eitai 2-Chome, Koto-ku Tokyo, Japan gyojyo@japantuna.or.jp

Sakae Terao

Executive Secretary
Japan Far Seas Purse Seine Fishing Association
14-10, Ginza 1 Chome, Chuo-Ku
Tokyo, Japan
81-3-3564-2315
japan@kaimaki.or.jp

Taichiro Kondo

Managing Director Fukuichi Gyogyo Kabushiki Kaisha 5-9-25, Nakaminato Yaizu-Shi Shizuoka, Japan 81-54-627-1211 ta-kondo@fukuichi.gr.jp

Takashi Shibata

Cubic-i Ltd. 2-15-9 Nishi-Gotanda, Shinagawa-ku Tokyo, Japan -9207 shibata@cubic-i.co.jp

Taro Kawamoto

Director Kyokuyo Suisan Co., Ltd. 1441-1, Habuchi, Yaizu-Shi Shizuoka, Japan 81-54-622-5112 tarokawamoto@nifty.com

Yujiro Akatsuka

Assistant Director Fisheries Agency Government of Japan 1-2-1, Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo, Japan 81-3-3502-8459 yuujirou_akatsuka@nm.maff.go.jp

Michio Shimizu

Executive Secretary
National Ocean Tuna Fishery Association
1-1-12 Coop Bldg 7F, Uchikanda Chiyoda-ku,
Tokyo, Japan 101-8503
+81-3-3294-0043
ms-shimizu@zengyoren.jf-net.ne.jp

Ryota Hamaya

Manager New Eikyu Gyogyo Kabushiki Kaisha Matsunocho 64, Makurazaki Kagoshima Japan +81-993-78-3631 ne.r.hamaya@mild.ocn.ne.jp

Minoru Honda

Managing Director Japan Far Seas Purse Seine Fishing Association 14-10, Ginza 1 Chome, Chuo-Ku Tokyo, Japan +81-3-3564-2315 japan@kaimaki.or.jp

Takashi Nagura

OFCF FSM OFFICE Room#203 Moylan's Building, Kolonia, Pohnpei, FSM 320-8581 or 922-0291 nagura@mail.fm

KIRIBATI

Raikaon Tumoa

Director of Fisheries Fisheries Division Bikenibeu, Tarawa Kiribati 686-96613 raikaont@mfmrd.gov.ki

Mbwenea Teioki

Senior Fisheries Officer Fisheries Division Bikenibeu, Tarawa, Kiribati mbweneat@mfmrd.gov.k

KOREA

Jong-hwa Bang

Ministry of Oceans and Fisheries Government Complex building 5, #11, Doum-ro 6, Sejong Special Self-governing City, 339-012, Korea

Ph: +82 44 200 5368 bjh125@korea.kr

Ji-hyun Kim

Institute for International Fisheries Cooperation 302-830, KTGO Building level 2, 1305 Dunsan2-Dong, Seogu, Daejon, Korea Ph: +82 10 6771 9094 zeekim@ififc.org

Kun-jae Kwak

General Manager Dongwon Industries 7th floor 68, Mabang-ro, Seocho-gu Seoul, Korea kwak1225@dongwon.com

Sang-jin Park

Dongwon Industries 7th floor 68, Mabang-ro, Seocho-gu Seoul, Korea

Ph: +82 2 589 3078 sjpark@dongwon.com

Kyung-soo, Lee

General Manager Sajo Industries Co., Ltd. #157, Chungjeongro-2-ga, Seodaemun-gu, Seoul, Korea Ph: +82 2 3277 1661 kslee@sajo.co.kr

_

Ji-hun Jang

Sajo Industries Co., Ltd #157, Chungjeongro-2-ga, Seodaemun-gu, Seoul, Korea Ph: +82 2 3277 1652

Ph: +82 2 32// 1652 skiff@sajo.co.kr

Won-ou, Lee

Managing Director Silla Co.,Ltd. #286-7, Seokchon-dong, Songpa-gu Seoul, Korea Ph: +82 2 3434 9711

Ph: +82 2 3434 9/11 leewonou@sla.co.kr

Anthony Kim

Silla Co.,Ltd. #286-7, Seokchon-dong, Songpa-gu Seoul, Korea Ph: +82 2 3434 9717 jhkim@sla.co.kr

Young-gyu Kim

Chairman of International Cooperation Committee 6th fl. Samho Center Bldg. "A", 275-1, Yangjaedong, Seocho-gu, Seoul, Korea Ph: +82 10 3112 3821 dygkim3821@hanmail.net

Hyun-ai Shin

Korea Overseas Fisheries Association 6th fl. Samho Center Bldg. "A", 275-1, Yangjaedong, Seocho-gu, Seoul, Korea Ph: +82 2 589 1613 fleur@kosfa.org

REPUBLIC OF MARSHALL ISLANDS

Glen Joseph

Director Marshall Islands Marine Resources Authority P.O. Box 866, Majuro Marshall Islands MH 96960 (692) 625-8262/5632 gjoseph101@gmail.com

Orlando Paul

Asst. Manager Koo's Fishing Co. LTD P.O. Box 321 Majuro MH 96960 625-5310 opaul29@gmail.com

Samuel K. Lanwi, Jr.

Deputy Director Marshall Islands Marine Resources Authority P.O. Box 866, Majuro Marshall Islands MH 96960 (692) 625-8262/5632 blanwi@gmail.com

Tion Nabau

Legal Advisor Marshall Islands Marine Resources Authority P.O. Box 866, Majuro, Marshall Islands MH 96960 (692) 625-8262/5632

Wayne Anjain

VMS Officer RMI Sea Patrol

Don Xu

Industry Representative Pan Pacific Foods (RMI) Inc. (652) 455-0591 pescamore@gmail.com

NAURU

Monte Depaune

Corporate Services Manager Buada District, Nauru 6745573136 monstartuna@gmail.com

Murin Hazlitt Jeremiah

Vessel Day Scheme / Vessel Monitoring System Officer.
Aiwo District Republic of Nauru 6745573733
mhzjere@gmail.com

Camalus A. Reiyetsi

Senior Technical Services Officer Uaboe District Nauru island +674 5573140 camalus.reiyetsi@gmail.com

NEW ZEALAND

Andrew Wright

International Compliance Advisor 25 The Terrace. Wellington, New Zealand 0064 4 8194757 andrew.wright@mpi.govt.nz

Joanna Anderson

Senior Policy Analyst MPI, P O Box 2526, Wellington +64 021 410514 joanna.anderson@mpi.govt.nz

Shannon Tau

Legal Adviser MFAF shannon.tau@mfat.govt.nz

Andy Smith

Operations Manager Talleys Group Nelson andy.smith@nn.talleys.co.nz

NIUE

James Tafatu

Principal Fisheries Officer james.tafatu@mail.gov.nu

PAPUA NEW GUINEA

Ludwig Kumoru

Executive Manager
Fisheries Management
National Fisheries Authority
PO Box 2016 Port Moresby NCD
Pappua New Guinea
Ph: +675 3090424
lkumoru@fisheries.gov.pg

Alois Kinol

National Fisheries Authority Senior Audit & Certification Coordinator (CDS - EU IUU) National Fisheries Authority PO Box 2016 Port Moresby NCD Papua New Guinea Ph: +675 309 0444 akinol@fisheries.gov.pg

Jerome Tioti

International Fisheries Liaison Coordinator National Fisheries Authority PO Box 2016 Port Moresby NCD Papua New Guinea Ph: +675 3090424 jtioti@fisheries.gov.pg

Gisa Komangin

Acting Executive Manager - MCS National Fisheries Authority PO Box 2016 Port Moresby NCD Papua New Guinea Ph: +675 309 0444 gkomangin@fisheries.gov.pg

Augustine Galuwa

Licensing Officer National Fisheries Authority PO Box 2016 Port Moresby NCD Papua New Guinea Ph: +675 309 0444 agaluwa@fisheries.gov.pg

Ernest M. Abel

Director for Bilateral and Regional Economic Affairs Department of Foreign Affairs PO Box 422 Waigani NCD Papua New Guinea Tel: +675 71992325 abelernest@gmail.com

Deborah Telek

Manager, Port Moresby PO Box 376, Port Moresby 121, NCD, Papua New Guinea Ph: +675 3213200 rdtelek@gmail.com

Fu-Liang Sang

Bussiness Research Analyst sstcflsang@gmail.com

Chris P. Hsu

Vice President Wewak, PNG 886933301733 sstcchris@gmail.com

Charles CP Lee

Consultant
Fair Well Fishing (PNG) Ltd
Ph: 886 928 733554
charlescplee@gmail.com

PHILIPPINES

Asis G. Perez

Director

Bureau of Fisheries and Aquatic Resources PCA Building, Elliptical Road, Diliman, Quezon City, Philippines Ph: +632-929-9597 / 929-8-74 aperez@bfar.da.gov.ph

Alma C. Dickson

BFAR-NMFDC/Center Chief 3rd Flr., PCA Bldg., Elliptcal Road, Diliman, Quezon City +63 02 929-6668 alma_dickson@yahoo.com

Rafael V. Ramiscal

Supervising Aquaculturist BFAR

Severino L. Escobar, Jr.

Supervising Fishing Regulations Officer BFAR PCA Building, Elliptical Road, Diliman Quezon City Philippines (63-2)-426-6532/455-1049 jojo_escobar@yahoo.com

Rosanna B. Contreras

Executive Director Socsksargen Federation of Fishing and Allied Industries, Inc.

2nd Floor SAFI 4 Bldg., Magsaysay Av., General Santos City, Philippines Ph: 63 917 721 2634

fishing.federation@gmail.com

Noel Lorenzo

Operations Manager San Lorenzo Luiz Fishing General Santos City, Philippines Ph: 63 917 722 1980 Noel_696@yahoo.com

Philip Andrew Yu

Manager NH Agro Industrial Corp. General Santos City, Philippines Ph: 63 917 553 5330 Andrew.yu@nh-agro.com

SAMOA

Tamaleaoa Leilua

Fisheries Officer SAMOA FISHERIES. 20369 ext 416. Tamaleaoa.Leilua@maf.gov.ws

Yohni Fepuleai

Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries, Senior Senior Fisheries Officer - Compliance Unit Apia, Samoa (+685) 7748183 yohni.fepuleai@maf.gov.ws yohni.fili@gmail.com

David Marx

Manager & Coordinator Te Vaka Moana PO Box 24554, Manners St, Wellington 6011 New Zealand davemarx@tevakamoana.org

SOLOMON ISLANDS

Sylvester Diake

Under Secretary/ Fisheries Ministry of Fisheries and Marine Resources P.O. Box G13 Honiara, Solomon Islands Ph: (677)38674/39143 Fax:(677) 38730-38106 sdiake@fisheries.gov.sb

Amanda Hamilton

Senior Manager ahamilton@trimarinegroup.com

Nollen Leni

Manager National Fisheries Development Limited Honiara, Solomon Islands 677-30991 nlenni@trimarinegroup.com

CHINESE TAIPEI

Chi-Chao Liu

Taiwan Fisheries Agency chichao@ms1.fa.gov.tw

Citai Ling

Taiwan Fisheries Agency chitai@ms1.fa.gov.tw

Ding-Rong Lin

Taiwan Fisheries Agency dingrong@ms1.fa.gov.tw

Joseph Chia-Chi Fu

Overseas Fisheries Development Council joseph@ofdc.org.tw

Jerhyn Chu

Taiwan Tuna Purse Seiners Association Rm.401, No.3 Yu Kang East 2nd Road 886981001401 jerhyn@ttpsa.org.tw

Chih-Chang Chou

Department of Coastal Control Coast Guard Administration No. 296, Sec.3, Sing-Long Rd. Taipei City 116, Taiwan +886 2 2239 9712 691167@cga.gov.tw

TONGA

Siola'a Malimali

Deputy Secretary for Fisheries (Technical Division)
P.O Box 871
(676) 21 399
s.malimali@tongafish.gov.to

Kalolaine Manuopangai

VMS Officer and Observer Coordinator Fisheries Division, Tonga Ph: (676) 21-399/ (676 23-921) kmanuopangai@tongafish.gov.to kmanuopangai@gmail.com

TUVALU

Solomua Ionatana

Fisheries Informaiton and Licenses Officer Fisheries Department Funafuti, Tuvalua +688 20814 tualen@gmail.com

Garry Preston

Fisheries Department Funafuti, Tuv preston.garry@gmail.com

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Russell Smith

Deputy Asst. Secretary for International Fisheries NOAA Office of International Affairs 14th and Constitution Avenue, NW, Bldg. HCHB, Washington, D.C. 202-482-4682 russell.smith@noaa.gov

Michael Tosatto

Regional Administrator NOAA- Pacific Island Regional Office 1601 Kapiolani Blvd., Suite 1110 Honolulu, HI 96814 808-944-2281 michael.tosatto@noaa.gov

Tom Graham

Fishery Policy Analyst NOAA – Pacific Island Regional Office 1601 Kapiolani Blvd., Suite 1110 Honolulu, HI 96814 808-944-2219 tom.graham@noaa.gov

Raymond Clarke

Fishery Biologist NOAA – Pacific Island Regional Office 1601 Kapiolani Blvd., Suite 1110 Honolulu, HI 96814 808-944-2205 raymond.clarke@noaa.gov

Alexa Cole

Deputy Chief Enforcement Attorney NOAA – Office of General Counsel 1315 East West Highway, SSMC3-15424, Silver Spring, MD 20910 301-427-8286 alexa.cole@noaa.gov

Elena Onaga

Attorney Advisor NOAA – Office of General Counsel 1601 Kapiolani Blvd., Suite 1110 Honolulu, HI 96814 808-944-2154 elena.onaga@noaa.gov

Emily Crigler

Biological Sciences Intern NOAA – Pacific Island Regional Office 1601 Kapiolani Blvd., Suite 1110 Honolulu, HI 96814 808-944-2256 emily.crigler@noaa.gov

Sean Martin

U.S. Commissioner Hawaii Longline Association 1133 North Nimitz Highway Honolulu, HI sean@pop-hawaii.com 808-537-2905

Bill Pickering

Special Agent in Charge Pacific Island Division - OLE 1601 Kapiolani Blvd., Suite 950 Honolulu, HI 96814 808-203-2500 Bill.Pickering@noaa.gov

Terry Boone

VMS Program Manager Pacific Island Division - OLE 1601 Kapiolani Blvd., Suite 950, Honolulu, HI 96814 808-944-2500 terry.boone@noaa.gov

Brian Hallman

Executive Director American Tunaboat Association 1 Tuna Lane, San Diego, CA 619-233-6407 bhallmanata@gmail.com

Eric Roberts

Fisheries Enforcement Specialist US Coast Guard 300 Ala Moana Blvd., Rm. 9-212, Honolulu, HI 808-535-3402 eric.t.roberts@uscg.mil

Svein Fougner

Advisor Hawaii Longline Association 32506 Seahill Drive, Rancho Palos Verdes, CA 90275 310-377-2661 sveinfougner@cox.net

Kitty M. Simonds

Executive Director WCPFMC 1164 Bishop Street, 1400 808 522-8220 kitty.simonds@noaa.gov

Adam Bloomquist

Policy & Management Analyst Department of State 2201 C Street NW, Suite 2758 Washington DC, 20520 202-647-3941 BloomquistA@state.gov

Eric Kingma

NEPA Coordinator WCPFMC 1164 Bishop St., Suite 1400 Honolulu, HI 96813 808-522-8141 Eric.Kingma@noaa.gov

VANUATU

Wesley Obed

Principal MCS Officer Government of the Republic of Vanuatu Fisheries Department, Private Mail Bag 9045, Port Vila Vanuatu wesley.obed@fisheriesdept.com

PARTICIPATING TERRITORIES

FRENCH POLYNESIA

Cédric Ponsonnet

Fisheries Division of the Government of French Polynesia BP 20 Papeete 98713 Papeete 689 50 25 50 cedric.ponsonnet@drm.gov.pf

NEW CALEDONIA

Regis Etaix-Bonnin

Fisheries and marine environment service BP 36 - 98845 Noumea Cedex New Caledonia (+687) 27-06-93 regis.etaix-bonnin@gouv.nc

TOKELAU

Mose Pelasio

Manager

Fisheries Division

EDNRE

FAKAOFO, Tokelau

Ph: 690-3127

pelasio.julio2@gmail.com

Feleti Tulafono

Offshore Fisheries Officer ftulafono@gmail.com

COOPERATION NON-MEMBERS

ECUADOR

Rafael Trujillo

National Chamber of Fisheries Ave. 9 de Octubre 424, Piso 8, Of. 802 (593) 4-2308448 direjec@camaradepesqueria.com rtruiillo57@gmail.com

EL SALVADOR

Salvador C.S. Navarro

Tuna commissioner Final 1^a. Avenida Norte y Av. Manuel Gallardo, Santa Tecla, El Salvador +503 22101760 salvador.siu@mag.gob.sv

Macarena U. Lupion

Madrid, Spain Ph: 34 917 823 300 Macarene.ubis@calvo.eds

PANAMA

Raúl Delgado

Director General of Monitoring, Control and surveillance Calle 45, Bella Vista +507 5116065 rdelgado@arap.gob.pa

THAILAND

Smith Thummachua

Chief

Overseas Fisheries Management and Economic Cooperation Group Kaset Klang, Chatuchak Bangkok 10900, Thailand

VIETNAM

Pham Ngoc Tuan

Deputy Director, Department of Capture Fisheries and Marine Resources Protection, Fisheries Administration, Ministry of Agriculture 10 Nguyen Cong Hoan, Ba Dinh, Ha Noi 84-918243824 pnt kg@yahoo.com.vn

To Viet Chau

Deputy Director General, International Cooperation Department, Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development 2 Ngoc Ha Street, Ba Dinh District, Hanoi, Viet Nam 84-912906426 tovietchau@yahoo.com

OBSERVERS

ACAP

Warren Papworth

Executive Secretary 27 Salamanca Square, Battery Point 7004, Tasmania, Australia Ph: 61 0439 323 505 Warren.papworth@acap.aq

PACIFIC ISLANDS FORUM FISHERIES AGENCY (FFA)

Wez Norris

Deputy Director-General FFA PO Box 629, Honiara, Solomon Islands +677 21124 wez.norris@ffa.int

Manu Tupou-Roosen

Legal Counsel FFA PO Box 629, Honiara, Solomon Islands +677 21124 Manu.Tupou-Roosen@ffa.int

Ramesh Chand

VMS Manager FFA PO Box 629, Honiara, Solomon Islands +677 21124 ramesh.chand@ffa.int

Apolosi Turaganivalu

Compliance Policy Officer FFA PO Box 629, Honiara, Solomon Islands

+677 21124 apolosi.turaganivalu@ffa.int

Pamela Maru

Fisheries Management Adviser FFA PO Box 629, Honiara, Solomon Islands +677 21124 pamela.maru@ffa.int

Noan Pakop

MCS Policy Adviser FFA PO Box 629, Honiara, Solomon Islands +677 21124 noan.pakop@ffa.int

Mark Young

Consultant FFA PO Box 629, Honiara, Solomon Islands +677 21124 mark.young@ffa.int

Les Clark

Adviser 85 Innes Rd, St Albans, Christchurch 8052, New Zealand 64 3 356 2892 les@rayfishresearch.com

Mike Pounder

FFA Surveillance Operations Officer C/- FFA 6777496262 mike.pounder@ffa.int

GORDON AND BETTY MOORE FOUNDATION

Meredith Lopuch

Program Officer 1661 Page Mill Rd, Palo Alto, CA 94304 meredith.lopuch@moore.org

GREENPEACE

Duncan Williams

Oceans Officer dwilliam@greenpeace.org

Jeonghee Han

Greenpeace East Asia, Campaigner 2/F 358-121, Seohyo-dong, Mapo-gu, Seoul, South Korea +82 2 3144 1995 jeonghee.han@greenpeace.org

INTERNATIONAL SEAFOOD SUSTAINABLE FOUNDATION

Holley Koehler

Senior Policy Advisor ISSF 805 15th Street, NW. Suite 605 Washington DC 20005 + 1 202 746 1430 hkoehler@iss-foundation.org

PEW CHARITABLE TRUSTS

Adam Baske

Officer, International Policy Pew Environment Group 901 E Street NW, Washington, DC 20004 USA Ph: +1 202 534 5977 abaske@pewtrusts.org

Tony Long

Director, Ending Illegal Fishing project at Pew Charitable Trusts
Tiger House, Burton Street, London
447572527347
along@pewtrusts.org

PACIFIC ISLANDS TUNA INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION

Naitilima Tupou

Secretariat P.O Box 1704, Nuku'alofa, Tonga +676 8763117 secretariat@pitia.org

PARTIES TO THE NAURU AGREEMENT

Sangaa Clark

Policy Development Advisor sangaa@pnatuna.com

Patricia Jack

Vessel Day Scheme Manager PNA Office; P.O. Box 3992; Majuro MH 96960 692-625-7626/7 patricia@pnatuna.com

SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC COMMUNITY

Graham Pilling

Senior Fisheries Scientist SPC, B.P. D5, 98848 Noumea, New Caledonia +687 262000 grahamp@spc.int

Peter G. williams

Principal Fisheries Scientist - Data Mgmt. peterw@spc.int

WORLD WIDE FUND FOR NATURE

Alfred "Bubba" Cook

WCPO Tuna Programme Manager 4 Ma'afu Street, Suva, Fiji +679 903-5008 acook@wwfpacific.org.fj

SECRETARIAT

Charles Karnella

WCPFC Chairman PIRO 1601 Kapiolani Blvd., Suite 1110 Honolulu, HI 96814 808-944-2206 charles.karnella@noaa.gov

Glenn Hurry

Executive Director P.O. Box 2356 Kaselehlie Street Pohnpei FSM 96941 691-320-1992/1993 glenn.hurry@wcpfc.int

SungKwon Soh

Science Manager P.O. Box 2356 Kaselehlie Street Pohnpei FSM 96941 691-320-1992/1993 sungkwon.soh@wcpfc.int

Sam Taufao

ICT Manager P.O. Box 2356 Kaselehlie Street Pohnpei FSM 96941 691-320-1992/1993 sam.taufao@wcpfc.int

Aaron Nighswander

Finance & Admin. Manager P.O. Box 2356 Kaselehlie Street Pohnpei FSM 96941 (691 320-1992/3 aaron.nighswander@wcpfc.int

Lara Manarangi-Trott

Compliance Manager WCPFC Secretariat P.O. Box 2356 Kaselehlie Street, Pohnpei FSM 96941 (691 320-1992/3 lara.manarangi-trott@wcpfc.int

Albert Carlot

VMS Manager WCPFC Secretariat P.O. Box 2356 Kaselehlie Street Pohnpei FSM 96941 (691 320-1992/3 albert.carlot@wcpfc.int

Karl Staisch

Regional Observer Program Coordinator P.O. Box 2356 Kaselehlie Street Pohnpei FSM 96941 691 320-1992/1993 karl.staisch@wcpfc.int

Ana Taholo

Assistant Compliance Manager P.O. Box 2356 Kaselehlie Street Pohnpei FSM 96941 691 320-1992/1993 ana.taholo@wcpfc.int

Martin Tsamenyi

Legal Advisor WCPFC Secretariat tsamenyi@uow.edu.au

Shelley Clarke

Rapporteur WCPFC Secretariat scc@sasama.info

Steve Dunn

Consultant steve.dunn@icic.net.au

Lucille A. Martinez

Administrative Officer P.O. Box 2356 Kaselehlie Street Pohnpei FSM 96941 691 320-1992/1993 lucille.martinez@wcpfc.int

Arlene Takesy

Executive Assistant P.O. Box 2356 Kaselehlie Street Pohnpei FSM 96941 691 320-1992/1993 arlene.takesy@wcpfc.int

Donald David

Data Quality Officer WCPFC Secretariat P.O. Box 2356 Kaselehlie Street Pohnpei FSM 96941 691 320-1992/3 donald.david@wcpfc.int

Glenn Jano

Compliance Officer P.O. Box 2356 Kaselehlie Street Pohnpei FSM 96941 691 320-1992/1993 glenn.jano@wcpfc.int

Jeannie Marie Nanpei

RFV Officer WCPFC Secretariat P.O. Box 2356 Kaselehlie Street Pohnpei FSM 96941 691 320-1992/3 jeannie.nanpei@wcpfc.int

Rose George

Support P.O. Box 2356 Kaselehlie Street Pohnpei FSM 96941 691 320-1992/1993 rosalin.george@wcpfc.int

Sam Langholz

Intern

Virgilio San Jose

Support 691-920-1905

Welsin Helgenberger

Support 691-925-1557

ATTACHMENT B: PROVISIONAL AGENDA WITH SCHEDULE



TECHNICAL AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

Ninth Regular Session

26 September- 1 October 2013 Pohnpei, Federated States of Micronesia

PROVISIONAL AGENDA WITH DOCUMENTS AND SCHEDULE

WCPFC-TCC9-2013-02_rev6 26September 2013

THURSDAY 26 Sept AGENDA ITEM 1 OPENING OF MEETING 1.1 Welcome 1.2 Adoption of agenda. 1.3 Meeting arrangements. AGENDA ITEM 2 IUU LIST AGENDA ITEM 3 CNM APPLICATIONS AGENDA ITEM 4 STATUS OF FISHERIES PRESENTATION (SPC)	02_rev5 03_rev1 05_rev4 10_rev1 11_rev3
1.1 Welcome 1.2 Adoption of agenda. 1.3 Meeting arrangements. AGENDA ITEM 2 IUU LIST AGENDA ITEM 3 CNM APPLICATIONS AGENDA ITEM 4 STATUS OF FISHERIES PRESENTATION (SPC)	03_rev1 05_rev4 10_rev1
1.2 Adoption of agenda. 1.3 Meeting arrangements. AGENDA ITEM 2 IUU LIST AGENDA ITEM 3 CNM APPLICATIONS AGENDA ITEM 4 STATUS OF FISHERIES PRESENTATION (SPC)	03_rev1 05_rev4 10_rev1
1.3 Meeting arrangements. AGENDA ITEM 2 IUU LIST AGENDA ITEM 3 CNM APPLICATIONS AGENDA ITEM 4 STATUS OF FISHERIES PRESENTATION (SPC)	03_rev1 05_rev4 10_rev1
AGENDA ITEM 2 IUU LIST AGENDA ITEM 3 CNM APPLICATIONS AGENDA ITEM 4 STATUS OF FISHERIES PRESENTATION (SPC)	05_rev4 10_rev1
AGENDA ITEM 2 IUU LIST AGENDA ITEM 3 CNM APPLICATIONS AGENDA ITEM 4 STATUS OF FISHERIES PRESENTATION (SPC)	10_rev1
AGENDA ITEM 2 IUU LIST AGENDA ITEM 3 CNM APPLICATIONS AGENDA ITEM 4 STATUS OF FISHERIES PRESENTATION (SPC)	_
AGENDA ITEM 3 CNM APPLICATIONS AGENDA ITEM 4 STATUS OF FISHERIES PRESENTATION (SPC)	_
AGENDA ITEM 3 CNM APPLICATIONS AGENDA ITEM 4 STATUS OF FISHERIES PRESENTATION (SPC)	_
AGENDA ITEM 4 STATUS OF FISHERIES PRESENTATION (SPC)	11_rev3
AGENDA ITEM 4 STATUS OF FISHERIES PRESENTATION (SPC)	
(SPC)	
AGENDA ITEM 5 SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS OF DEVELOPING STATES	
5.1 Review effectiveness of Resolution 2008-01 on Aspirations	
of Small Islands Developing States	
AGENDA ITEM 6 DRAFT MULTI-YEAR MANAGEMENT	
PROGRAMME FOR TROPICAL TUNAS AND COMPLIANCE ISSUES	12
(CMM 2012-01)	13 rev1
WCPFC9 agreed that TCC9 would focus on the draft multi-year	18
management programme for tropical tunas and compliance issues (WCPFC9	IP04 rev1
Summary Report para 218).	IP05 rev1
6.1 Review Tokyo WG-TT outcomes	IP06 DP06-Japan DP07-USA
Reports from CCMs implementing the alternative FAD	
measure in CMM 2012-01 (CMM 2012-01 Att E, para 1(5))	
6.3 Review available information on compliance issues for	
CMMs on tropical tunas (2009 – 2013)	

AGENDA ITI	EM 7 COMPLIANCE MONITORING SCHEME	
7.1	Review of draft CMR	06 dCMR_rev1 dCMR AddInfo_ IP01_rev3 IP02 IP03_rev1 IP04_rev1 IP07/IP12
	2pm onwards_ RESUME TCC9 MEETING	
CO	MPLETE ITEMS NOT OTHERWISE COVERED DURING	DAY 1
AGENDA ITI	EM 7 COMPLIANCE MONITORING SCHEME	
7.2	Provisional CMR report and Executive Summary	
7.3	Target capacity assistance to areas of need identified by	07
	process	
7.4	Review of CMM 2012-02 <i>Compliance Monitoring Scheme</i> scuss potential refinements to the scheme (WCPFC9 para 296)	DP04 - USA
7.5	Review of Annual Reporting templates and deadlines, online	07
	ice further development	IP01_rev3
7.6	Developing a systematic analysis, prioritization and	
respon	nse mechanism for non-compliance (TCC workplan 2015)	
	der recommendations from CMS process about CMMs	
_	at were ambiguous or problematic	
AGENDA ITI		00
	WCPFC Secretariat administered MCS and Compliance (reports for each of the Programmes will also be available)	08
i.	Vessel Monitoring System (VMS)	
ii.	10.6 Review of VMS SSPs	
iii.	10.6.1 Review implementation of WCPFC9 decision on	
	VMS SSP Manual reporting (Sec 5)	
iv.	10.6.2 Review list of approved ALC/MTUs maintained	
	by Secretariat (SSP SEC 2.7)	DP04 4
v.	Regional Observer Programme (ROP)	RP01_rev1
vi.	10.1 ROP-TAG	RP02 RP03
vii.	10.4 Port Co-ordination Proposal	RP04
viii.	10.8 Annual report of changes required for Observer	RP05
	training	IP06
ix.	8.2 ROP coverage/ROP data monitoring – suggestion from SC9	RP07
х.	High Seas Boarding and Inspection (HSBI)	RP06
xi.	11.5 Para 24 HSBI Procedures	
xii.	Record of Fishing Vessels (RFV)	
xiii.	RFV SSP Proposal	
xiv.	High Seas Transshipment Monitoring	
XV.	11.4 Transshipment (CMM 2009-06)	

xvi.	11.4 .1 Review Draft Guidelines on Transshipment						
	(CMM 2009-06 para 37						
xvii.	11.4.2 Review Applications for exemption						
	xviii. Purse Seine Catch Discard Monitoring						
xix.	Eastern High Seas Pocket SMA						
XX.	11.3 Eastern High Seas Pocket SMA						
xxi.	Administration of the Data Rules and Procedures						
ACENDA ITI	EM 0 DATA DROVICION AND DATA CARE						
AGENDA ITI 9.1	EM 9 DATA PROVISION AND DATA GAPS Impact of gaps in CCM data submission on Commissions	IP07					
	ance functions (final CMR 2012)	IP12					
9.2	Purse Seine Catch Composition Data Improvement (FFA	11 12					
	t para 18 of TCC8 report)						
	Recommendations/ suggestions from SC						
7.3	recommendations/ suggestions from 50						
AGENDA ITI							
FROM ICCS	and WCPFC9						
10.2	Report from CDS-IWG Chair (as per WCPFC9 approved						
TOR)							
10.3	E-monitoring and E-reporting applications	15					
10.7	Guidelines for handling and safe release of Whale Sharks	IP11					
(CMM	2012-03) (WCPFC9 para 363)	IFII					
AGENDA ITI	EM 11 REVIEW OF EXISTING CMMs AND	IP03_rev1					
RESOLUTIO							
11.1	South Pacific Albacore (CMM 2010-05)	IP08					
11.2	South Pacific Swordfish (CMM 2009-03)						
11.6	Paragraph 10 of Seabirds CMM	DP05- USA					
11.8	Sharks (CMM 2010-07)	IP10					
AGENDA ITI	EM 12 PROPOSALS FOR NEW CMMs						
12.1	FADs proposal – United States	DP01-USA					
12.2	UVI Proposal – United States	DP03-USA					
AGENDA ITI ADVICE	EM 13 OTHER MATTERS REQUIRING TCC						
13.1	Development of metrics for measuring fishing effort and	18					
capaci	ty (TCC Workplan 2013)	DP07 - USA					
13.2	Management Objectives	19					
	REVIEW TCC-RELATED RECOMMENDATIONS ON NCE REVIEW OF WCPFC	20					

AGENDA ITEM 15 TCC BUDGET AND WORKPLAN	
15.1 Update report on WCPFC Secretariat IMS developments	21
2013/14	
15.2 Report on WCPFC Security Audit 2012/13	RP09
15.3 Proposed TCC Work Plan and budget for 2014-2017	22
AGENDA ITEM 16 OTHER MATTERS	
16.1 Report on JTF	
AGENDA ITEM 17 ELECTION OF OFFICERS	
AGENDA ITEM 18 NEXT MEETING	
AGENDA ITEM 19 ADOPTION OF REPORT OF TCC9	
AGENDA ITEM 20 CLOSE OF MEETING	

ATTACHMENT C - WCPFC IUU VESSEL LIST FOR 2013 (Effective from 6 February 2013, 60 days after WCPFC9)

Note: Information provided in this list is in accordance with CMM 2010-06 para 19

Current name of vessel (previous names)	Current flag (previous flags)	Date first included on WCPFC IUU Vessel List	Flag State Registration Number/ IMO Number	Call Sign (previous call signs)	Owner/beneficial owners (previous owners)	Notifying CCM	IUU activities
Neptune	Georgia	10 Dec. 2010	C-00545	4LOG	Space Energy Enterprises Co. Ltd.	France	Fishing on the high seas of the WCPF Convention Area without being on the WCPFC Record of Fishing Vessels (CMM 2007-03-para 3a)
Fu Lien No 1	Georgia	10 Dec. 2010	IMO No 7355662	4LIN2	Fu Lien Fishery Co., Georgia	United States	Is without nationality and harvested species covered by the WCPF Convention in the Convention Area (CMM 2007-03, para 3h)
Yu Fong 168	Chinese Taipei	11 Dec. 2009		BJ4786	Chang Lin Pao- Chun, 161 Sanmin Rd., Liouciuo Township, Pingtung County 929, Chinese Taipei	Marshall Islands	Fishing in the Exclusive Economic Zone of the Republic of the Marshall Islands without permission and in contravention of Republic of the Marshall Islands's laws and regulations. (CMM 2007-03, para 3b)

ATTACHMENT D – E-MONITORING AND E-REPORTING TRAFFIC LIGHT TABLE

Observer Actities

E-M Video activities

24 x 7 operation

Automatically "woken"

Reviewable observations

Tamper evident

Monitoring deck activities

Monitoring transhipment activities

Monitoring bunkering activities

Monitoring hold contents

Monitoring Ionline catch composition

Catch weight estimation

Monitoring species of interest

Monitoring setting of FADs

Monitoring of nearby vessels

Monitoring purse seine catch composition

Collecting length-frequency information

Collecting biological information

Liaison with crew

Easily achieved with current technology

Potentially achieved with current technology

Unable to be achieved with current technology